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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)
GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may

be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (the "year”).

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID”), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or "HKSAR") and the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”). With profound expertise, strong research and development
("R&D") capability, proven track record and excellent reputation, the
group has established a leading profile in our industry and has adopted
a proactive approach to introduce innovative and customized smartcard,
RFID and biometrics applications to our clients. Leveraging on our
extensive industry experience and intellectual assets, ITE will continue to
develop innovative products and multi-applications solutions for clients
coming from different industries and to expand our businesses to more

overseas countries.
Appreciation
| would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 June 2021
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNGREEEBE

Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 57, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
34 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisors to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 58, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 37 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 52, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales ("ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 55, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant
qualified in the Mainland China and Hong Kong China. Mr. Kam has over
32 years' experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in
private and public companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0.B.E. (Hon), )P, aged 77, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung, aged 61, holds a Bachelor's degree in Arts
(Honours) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of
Social Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. He has been
working in the information technology sector with over twenty years’
experience in the telecom and communications industry. He is the
chairman of the Asia Data Center Alliance and at the same time serving
the Hong Kong community as a District Councillor for more than two
decades.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

During the year, we made improvements and developments in multiple
aspects, ranging from enhancement of technology capability, extension of
local business scope to overseas expansion.

Being a leading innovation technology company in Hong Kong, we
are stepping up efforts to enter global markets. During the year, we
established a wholly-owned subsidiary, ITE Japan K.K. (ITE Japan #k=\ &#t)
in Japan. The objectives of ITE Japan K.K. (ITE Japan #k3\&#t) shall be to
carry on businesses in relation to research and development, procurement
and export of products, systems and services for innovation applications
used for smart city development (e.g. information communication
technologies, electric and fuel cell vehicles, energy and robotic systems),
investment in smart facilities and collaboration with universities and R&D
Institutes, and businesses incidental to any of the foregoing.

On the local business front, our solution and professional service arm,
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited, has been awarded a number of new
contracts and orders from both new and old clients, including the Contract
for Provision of People Counter System and Related Services at Public
Toilets, Aqua Privies and Bathhouses in the Territory (the “Contract”)
awarded by the HKSAR Government. The Contract commenced in April
2021 and our delivery of technology and services is currently in full swing.
We believe the Contract will open up opportunities and possibilities for
the development and citywide deployment of our smart city applications,
solutions and services.

With funding support from the Innovation and Technology Commission
under the "“Public Sector Trial Scheme — Special Call for Projects for the
Prevention and Control of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Hong Kong”, the
technological product solution “An Integrated Solution for the Detection/
Diagnosis/Surveillance of Hygiene Conditions and Deep Cleansing
of Public Toilets and Facilities” developed by ITE Engineering Limited
entered the public sector trial stage in April 2021. Our service team has
already conducted trials for two government departments, namely the
Transport Department and the Environmental Protection Department. Our
proprietary Internet of Things-enabled smart UVC disinfection devices and
steam cleaners have been deployed to deep cleanse and disinfect sets
of on-street parking meters and recycling bins. In the coming months,
we will conduct more trials in the local public sector to help Hong Kong
combat the COVID-19 pandemic and enhance public hygiene.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sustainability is one of our core values. Over the past two years, we have
been deploying over 10,000 pieces of rechargeable lithium battery packs
to support the off-grid energy consumption of nearly 10,000 pieces
of on-street parking meters all over the city under the “Contract for
Management, Operation and Maintenance of Parking Meter System”. Our
knowledge and experience in implementation and management derived
from the foregoing own designed and built lithium battery system enable
us to continue to apply and integrate green energy into our solutions
and professional services, including the Contract for Provision of People
Counter System and Related Services at Public Toilets, Aqua Privies and
Bathhouses in the Territory and our technological product solution “An
Integrated Solution for the Detection/Diagnosis/Surveillance of Hygiene
Conditions and Deep Cleansing of Public Toilets and Facilities”.

While management of the group is aware of the essence of environmental
protection, the success of our environmental policies and performance
hinges on the acceptance and support from our employees, suppliers,
customers and communities. We are greatly encouraged by the positive
attitudes of our employees, suppliers, customers and communities towards

our environmental initiatives.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to drag on the economy
and poses a serious threat to businesses. We remain cautious and
vigilant about our future prospects, and yet continue to make progress in
innovating products and providing more professional services to serve our

communities.
Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the
long term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology
and Excellency; three words which best explain ITE.

All members performed professionally under the corporate vision,
mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual assets are created,
accumulated and protected, and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
world. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to provide

innovative solutions to our clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am Mo

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses associated
with its business operations. The group maintains insurance policies
against loss or damage to its office and business interruption, public
liability and employees’ compensation. The insurance coverage may be
insufficient to cover all the risks associated with the group’s business
and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured loss or a loss in
excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural disasters and
other events beyond the group’s control, the group may be required to
pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which could
materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results
of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the group considers that the current insurance
coverage is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the group will

review its insurance policies from time to time.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
approximately HK$50 million, representing an increase of 12% over last

the group recorded a revenue of
year. Profits for the year attributable to owners of the company for the
year ended 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$8 million as compared
to that of approximately HK$1 million for last year.

Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded an increase in revenue for about

12% when compared with last year and the group'’s gross profit margin
also increased from 29% to 33%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$40,414,241 (2020: HK$35,204,827) which
increased by 15%. On the other hand, the income from maintenance
services slightly increased by 2% to HK$9,335,637 (2020: HK$9,140,379).

The group’s administrative expenses decreased by 11% to HK$10,574,555
(2020: HK$11,917,737). Included in administrative expenses, the research
and development cost and associated sponsorship was significant
decreased by 52% to HK$1,259,247 (2020: HK$2,648,888). Expenditure
on research and development activities was totally expensed in profit or
loss during the year.

During the year, the group’s finance cost was HK$391,020 (2020:
HK$858,465) which related to interest on loans from related parties and
finance charges on lease liabilities. The decrease was mainly due to paying
off loans from related parties during the year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and loans from related parties. At 31 March 2020, the group
had loans from related parties amounted to HK$8,800,000 and these
loans bore interest at fixed rate of 5% per annum, were unsecured and
repayable on demand. The loans were fully repaid during the year. At 31
March 2021, the current ratio of the group was 2.69 (2020: 1.59) while
the liquidity ratio was 2.56 (2020: 1.49). The overall financial and liquidity
positions of the group remained at a stable and healthy level.

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also
reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was nil (2020: 0.68).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am Mo

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong
including contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Besides,
the group also provides on-going training programmes for its employees
to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

At 31 March 2021, the group had 84 (2020: 90) full-time employees and
all are based in Hong Kong. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration,
was approximately HK$27 million (2020: HK$26 million) for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2021, US$1,482,163 (equivalent to HK$11,560,594) (2020:
US$1,476,749 (equivalent to HK$11,518,641)) time deposit was pledged
to a bank to secure certain banking facilities of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the company.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2021.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Japanese Yen (“JPY"),
Macao Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The exchange rates
between HK$, US$, JPY, MOP and RMB have been very steady for the
past few years. During the year, the group generally used the receipts
from customers to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements.
They are denominated in the local currency of the place in which the
subsidiaries operate. The group does not currently engage in hedging
to manage possible exchange rate risk as the group considers the cost
associated with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits.
However, management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to

exchange rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.
Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2021, the company did not have any contingent liability.
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The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, save for the
deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set

out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision A.4.1 of the
Code.
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The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate governance through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2021. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2021.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The board which currently comprises three executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The board should regularly review the contribution required from a
director to perform his responsibilities to the company, and whether the
director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive director, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
has been serving the board as independent non-executive director for
more than nine years and has consistently demonstrated his willingness
to exercise independent judgments and provide objective challenges to
management. He has actively participated in board meetings and board
committee meetings held during the year and has shown himself able to
give constructive and independent advice to the board over significant
issues. Therefore, the board considers that he remains independent,
notwithstanding the length of his tenure as independent non-executive
director.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Following the passing of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on 15 May 2020, the
appointment and resignation of Mr. Yeung Kin Hing, Chris were made on
1 August 2020 and 4 August 2020 respectively. Further on 1 November
2020, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung was appointed as independent non-executive
director to fill the casual vacancy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve
a sustainable and balanced development of the group. In designing the
Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from various
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All appointments to the board will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. This diversity
policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the company,
and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the
board.
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With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operation of the group and that he/she
is aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors
will be arranged wherever necessary.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been

established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Apart from regular board meetings, the chairman also held meeting/
discussed with independent non-executive directors without the presence
of other directors during the year.
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During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advance to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for each
board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the directors
together with necessary board papers and related materials at least three
days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any items on
the agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and the
relevant information of each board and committee meeting are generally
made available to directors or committee members at least three days in
advance.

The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Minutes of board meetings and the board
committees meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and
records as soon as after the board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection within reasonable advance

notice.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or obtain independent professional advice if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE EHRETRE

#&l:i

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors EEpE 283 EREEY FMEES REZEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BEHRE 4/4 N/A 171 1/1
T™EA
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung EPER A e 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TEA NEMA TNEA
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah gL E 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TE A TNE A TNE
Independent non-executive directors BYFHITEE
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FIERE L N/A N/A N/A N/A
(passed away on 15 May 2020) (R=Z=ZF NEA T™EA TERA NEA
A A+H A#)
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BZEI S E 4/4 4/4 " 1/1
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew HERBEE 4/4 4/4 1/ 11
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing TR B 4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2020 (R=ZE=ZF i A A N iE A i A
and resigned on 4 August 2020) NR—BEZE
RRZZ_ZF
N\AEBABHTE)
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung BEESEE 2/2 2/2 N/A 11
(appointed on 1 November 2020) (RZZ=FF i A

+—A—HEEE)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

ERRITBAR

The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief 1A

executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed
by Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such

deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles

of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides

the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for

effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions

and strategies.
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The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony (being the chairman of the audit
committee), Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Wai Hing Cheung. As
mentioned above, following the passing of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on 15
May 2020, the appointment and resignation of Mr. Yeung Kin Hing, Chris
were made on 1 August 2020 and 4 August 2020 respectively. Further on
1 November 2020, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung was appointed as independent
non-executive director to fill the casual vacancy.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss auditing, financial reporting matters, internal control and also risk
management system. The principal terms of reference include inter alia, its
relationship with the company’s external auditor, review of the company’s
financial information and oversight of the financial reporting system and
internal control procedures of the company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, four audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management
of the company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations to
the board of the remuneration of non-executive directors. Members of the
remuneration committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong
Wang Fat, Andrew, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent, with Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew as chairman. A majority of
the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent
non-executive directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in
connection with his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules to meet at least once a year.
During the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review
the remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees
of the independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat,
Andrew, Mr. Wai Hing Cheung and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews of the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.
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During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the board were
discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
company. Further, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, Mr. Liu Hoi Wah and Mr.
Wai Hing Cheung will retire from the board in accordance with Articles
108 and 112 of the company’s articles of association at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 55
to 61 of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the board at its absolute discretion
after taking into account the company’s financial results, future prospects
and other factors, and subject to:

- the articles of association of the company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the company is
bound from time to time;

- the investment and operating requirements of the company; and

any other factors that have material impact on the company.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of
the group’s risk management and internal control system. To facilitate the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, the group emphasizes the importance of
a sound internal control system which is also indispensable for mitigating
the group’s risk exposures. A sound and effective internal control
system is designed for (i) safeguarding the interests of shareholders; (ii)
safeguarding assets of the group against misappropriation; (iii) ensuring
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information; and (iv) ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such system of internal control
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and fulfilment of the business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the internal control policies and procedures to assess its effectiveness
and shall make recommendations to the board if any significant areas of
concern are identified.

During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
staff

qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the

functions and has considered the adequacy of resources,

group’s accounting and financial reporting function. The board is satisfied
that, the present system of internal control is effective. The group does
not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to have

one.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programmes and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk

management and internal control systems were in place and effective.
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With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.
Business Ethics and Professional Code of
Conducts

The group puts high standards on business ethics and professional
conducts expected of all employees. Employees are briefed regularly on
the code of ethics and on the conducts of keeping confidentiality of the
information of business partners and the group. Briefings on the code of
ethics and on the conducts are held for new employees during orientation

sessions.

The group also adopts goods employment standards of non-discrimination
policy and fair compensation scheme.

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company's affairs. The company secretary is appointed by the board and
reports to the chairman and directors of the company. The company
secretary also plays an essential role in the relationship between the
company and its shareholders, and assists the board in discharging its
obligations to shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary

has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to
update her skills and knowledge during the year.
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External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit services could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$403,500 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$42,000.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article 64 of the
articles of association of the company, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
board or the secretary of the company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
articles of association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the vyear, there is no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Management Approach and Governance
Structure

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 20 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to
the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Guide"). It discloses major policies and management measures for the
environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision
of smartcard, RFID, biometrics products and solutions and professional
services of the group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and communities. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our open and transparent platform while
we are devoted to continuous improvement of our communication and
engagement channels. We are committed in maintaining a long-term
partnership with our stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing
their concerns with follow-up actions.

Having faith in sustainable business development, the board together
with management of the group evaluate and identify ESG-related risks,
formulate overall ESG and sustainability strategies, set ESG-related goals
and targets for the group, and integrate the strategic planning into
daily business operations. The board regularly reviews the progress and
enhances the ESG and sustainability strategies.
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Reporting Principles

In the preparation of this ESG report, we follow the Reporting Principles,
namely materiality, quantitative and consistency as set forth in the Guide.

Materiality

We recognise that the success of our environmental policies and
performance hinges on the support from our stakeholders. Therefore,
we always value our stakeholders’ insights into the group’s ESG and
sustainability strategies, as well as their opinions and feedbacks on
our existing ESG operating practices. Through continuous industry
benchmarking, communications with our stakeholders and internal

discussions, we identify material ESG factors.

We have established the following communication channels to facilitate
stakeholder engagement. Through stakeholder engagement, we manage
to evaluate and identify ESG-related risks effectively and make continuous
improvements to our ESG and sustainability strategies.

B % SR R

RERR - LB RERMER - RPVEERESI AHNER

R BEEEM - BRI
BEEH

BIRERFOENTFEERPIREREMRIRK A6
R’ FEl BA-EERFOEYREENRE Hak
ERETHEEREBNEANNE  URMFAHRTR
B HEREAREFEBRNERNRE - BRFESTRT
FRE  BEBMHEIMBBELABT R - HMSARAE
BRI - B NEREE -

HMERUNATREBUNRERNEL2H - FRFNHES
8RB AR BOLET MR RE - H e RERARR
b FHERERMNRE  dgRERRAFHERRER -

Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expected Results BihE SHRE HMERR
Shareholders  —  Annual general meetings and —  Comply with relevant laws ARER - KRERAFRgRHE - EFHEEENR
other shareholder meetings and regulations AR R &% R
- Annual reports, interim —  Strengthen governance - FiR - hEWmER - NRES
reports and quarterly reports ZEHRE
- Announcements and - Identify risk factors - A RIEK - #BhEEEAEZ
circulars
- Website - Make necessary information - WA - {EHMEMES
disclosure and maintain BEE R
transparency ERE
Employees ~ Regular operational - Identify risk factors == - BREERERE - HEAEEEE
and management i
communications
— Training and briefing sessions -  Maintain a safe and healthy - BIImERE - BRTIREN
workplace TERIR
— Circulars and emails - Promote career development - BRNEL - BERETR
~  Inherit and pass on our core - EEROEER
values and spirit K& te

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g REAWmE

Stakeholders  Engagement Channels Expected Results BHE SHRRE MERR
Customers - Business meetings and —  Effective delivery of solutions LSS - ABgEk - ARRESmRAR
seminars and professional services Bk MBE RS
- Letters, facsimiles, emails and - Maintain information - B -B#E- - KRERERE
phone conversations transparency BE - FEBA
- Website ~  Respect and protect - #E - BENREERP
customers' rights and o
interests
- Customer service hotline - Build mutual trust and - EBEPRBRER - BENEEK
establish a long-term REIEZ
professional relationship BR
Suppliers —  Business meetings and —  Identify risk factors HERE - BFHEER - BhERBREE
seminars e
- Tendering and requests for - Maintain information - HBERREERE - WBRERERE
quotation transparency
- Letters, facsimiles, emails and - Build mutual trust and - EE BB - ENHEEK
phone conversations establish a long-term B - BiEBA REIEE
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Communities - Website ~  Fulfil corporate social fTE - #ME - Ef?ﬁ%
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Quantitative

Information about material ESG factors and key performance indicators
("KPI") are made available in quantitative form in this report, whenever
feasible, pursuant to the Guide.

In the presentation of the types of emissions and respective emissions
data, we have been following the vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK,
developed by the Environmental Protection Department (“EPD"). The
modelling methodology follows that of the California Air Resources
Board's EMFAC2002 model but with modifications to cater for local
factors.

The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions due to electricity consumption
were calculated based on CLP Power Hong Kong Limited’s GHG intensity
of the electricity and HK Electric Investments and HK Electric Investments
Limited's carbon intensity.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are adopted to allow meaningful comparisons
of ESG data over time.

We have been calculating air pollutant emissions from vehicles based on
the EPD’s vehicle emission model, EMFAC-HK. During the year, EMFAC-HK
was updated and we adopted the latest version of EMFAC-HK in this
report.

The GHG intensity of the electricity sold by CLP Power in Hong Kong
reduced by 26%, down to 0.37kgCO.e/kWh in 2020, compared to
0.50kgC0O2e/kWh in 2019; the carbon intensity of HK Electric Investments
and HK Electric Investments Limited's power supply declined to 0.71kg
of COze per kWh in 2020, compared with 0.81kgCOze/kWh in 2019.
In this report, we calculated greenhouse gas emissions due to electricity
consumption based on 0.37kgCO2e/kWh and 0.71kgCO.e/kWh (2020:
0.50kgC0O2e/kWh and 0.81kgCO2e/kWh).
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Reporting Boundary

We extended the scope of environmental and social performance in this
ESG report in accordance with the latest version of the Guide. This report
further describes and explains the application of the Reporting Principles
and reports on more provisions of the Guide.

A ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND RESOURCES
MANAGEMENT MEASURES

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental protection standards to fulfil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during
the operation of the business. Being a provider of smartcard,
RFID, biometrics products and solutions and professional services,
we bear low impact on carbon emission and the environment.
Nevertheless, the group continues to actively manage our
environmental footprint via implementing environmental

protection measures in the office and workplace.

We were one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies came from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financial, consumer
goods, industrial, utilities, information technology, materials and
telecommunication sectors. We are ready to disclose the carbon
footprint information and share the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through various means. We
have been pioneering the initiative and playing an important role
in transforming Hong Kong into a green and low-carbon economy
since 2014.
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Aspect A1: Emissions

The impacts of climate change touch on every part of our lives and
our business. We and our stakeholders recognise the need to step
up our environmental protection actions and draw up relevant
policies to reduce the emissions and discharges of air pollutants,
greenhouse gases and wastes. We have established various policies
to closely monitor, regularly review and implement measures to
reduce the air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and hazardous and non-hazardous waste arising
from our daily business operations.

We have been complying with all relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impacts on us relating to emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.

The group’s major sources of air pollutants, greenhouse gases
and wastes include fuel and electricity consumption of our vehicle
fleet, office and staff. Emissions disclosed as KPIs are calculated
based on the consumption data collected and applicable emission
factors.

Air pollutants include NOx, SOx, particulate matters and other
pollutants regulated under laws and regulations of HKSAR.
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
ozone, hydrofluorocarbons, chlorofluorocarbons etc.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no confirmed
non-compliance in relation to air pollutants and greenhouse gases,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes.
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KPI A1.1 Emissions from vehicles

We were awarded with the Contract for Management, Operation
and Maintenance of existing Parking Meter System (“CMOM") by
the Government of the HKSAR and the CMOM commencement
date started on 20 January 2019. A vehicle fleet consisting of
three diesel trucks, two diesel vans, four electric vans, one electric
car and thirteen gasoline motorcycles were established to fulfil
the requirements and needs under the CMOM. During the year,
we further procured the first full electric motorcycle to replace
the gasoline driven motorcycle aiming to reduce as much vehicle
emissions as possible. As there are no available zero emission
vehicle models for the replacement of the diesel driven trucks of
the fleet, the group can only make new environmental vehicle
replacement in the later stage.

As at 31 March 2021, the accumulated service mileage of our
electric vehicle fleet which consisted of four Nissan eNV200 electric
vans, one Mercedes-Benz Smart forfour Electric Drive and one
Ugbest Express 2019 electric motorcycle exceeded 368,000km.
From 9 March 2021 to 31 March 2021, the daily service mileage
of Ugbest Express 2019 electric motorcycle was 19.6km.

Types of emissions 2021 2020
Kg Kg
NOx 310.92 321.45
SOx 0.223 0.373902
Particulate Matter (“"PM") 29.83 21.68
Hydrocarbons ("HC") 7.48 22.47
Carbon Monoxide (“CO") 1,253.49 3,567.66
KPI' A1.2 Greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions
2021 2020

Tonnes of COe  Tonnes of COze

Direct GHG emissions

Vehicle fleet — gasoline, diesel 91.63 116.54
Aviation travel - aviation fuel 0 2.65

Indirect GHG emissions

Electric vehicles — electricity 14.38 18.59
Office - electricity 56.52 80.70
Total GHG emissions 162.33 218.48
GHG emission intensity

(per employee) 1.67 2.00
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KPI A1.3 Hazardous wastes

Hazardous wastes are those defined by regulations of HKSAR.
Hazardous wastes are required to be separated and recorded
for collection. During the year, the group did not produce any
hazardous wastes in course of business.

KPI A1.4 Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the group produced and disposed under the
CMOM approximately 21.26 tonnes (2020: 37.63 tonnes, 2019:
8.4 tonnes) of alkaline battery chemical wastes and the wastes
were landfill disposed through a waste collector approved by the
Environmental Protection Department.

KPI A1.5 Measures to mitigate emissions

In accordance with policies stated above for the reduction of air
pollutants and GHG emissions from vehicles, the group adopts the
following measures: control the numbers of vehicles owned by the
group; control the frequency of employees to take transportation
for local business commuting; and control the volume of business
travel by employees. We consider such measures had been
achieved during the year.

KPI A1.6 How hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved

The group is committed as ever to conserving precious resources
by taking eco-friendly measures to reduce disposal of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that wasted electrical and electronic
equipment are the fastest growing waste materials in the world.
To alleviate the problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software. At the same
time, we promote the concept of replacing the particular depleted
computer components instead of the whole computer. Reducing
the replenishment rate of the computer components is not our
only objective, we also send all depleted computer components to
the licensed recycling collectors to lessen the environmental impact
associated with electronic manufacturing from raw materials, as
well as to reduce hazardous and toxic substances handled during
disposal.

Any hazardous wastes must be disposed through the approved
waste collectors. The non-hazardous wastes, such as packaging
material, are systematically collected and transported to designated
government-funded disposal facilities. For surplus resources, e.g.
end-of-life disposal products, we make every effort to ensure
responsible handling and disposal. Donation of surplus resources
to charitable organisations is supported. We routinely isolate
any recyclable components, e.g. paper, metal and electronic
components, prior to disposal. We consider such measures had
been achieved during the year.

Other non-hazardous wastes produced by the group are mainly
generated from daily office operations, including daily paper
usage, office waste and food waste by employees. Those wastes
are collectively classified, collected and disposed by the property
management office of the building on a regular basis.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

GHG emissions are mainly generated from combusting gasoline
and diesel by vehicles owned by the group. Motor vehicles and
motorcycles are subject to annual mandatory inspection. We
regularly inspect our vehicle fleet to ensure that any damaged
exhaust pipe is immediately repaired or replaced. Better fleet
utilization through vehicle-sharing is also strongly encouraged.

Electricity consumption is a contribution to our GHG emissions and
energy footprints. The group adopts a number of energy-saving
initiatives as well as efficiency practices and policies to enhance
the awareness for GHG emission reduction and energy saving,
including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning system with
“Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging employees to turn off the computers and
information communication technology (“ICT") devices

when not in use;

- setting office machines such as copiers and display
monitors to turn-off mode automatically after office hour;

- maintaining indoor temperature at an optimal level for

comfort;

- putting up signage emphasizing the importance of energy
saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best use of the ICT
facilities so as to avoid unnecessary travel arrangement.

The group continuously monitors and reviews the performance
and effectiveness of our appliances, replacing any out-date or
inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving technology.
We have encouraged paperless workflow such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced administrative
documentation. When using paper, employees are encouraged to
use double-sided paper, black and white or recycled papers when
printing or photocopying documents. It considerably improves
operational efficiency while creating a paperless operation system.
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KPI'A2.1 Energy consumption

Energy Usage and

Emissions Unit 2021 2020

Electricity consumption in kWh 38,861 34,817
electric vehicles

Electricity consumption in kWh 139,277 151,173
office

Electricity consumption in kWh 178,138 185,990
total

Energy consumption intensity kWh 1,836.5 1,626.3
(pro rata) per employee

Gasoline and diesel Liter 14,218.62  24,534.23
consumption of
vehicle fleet

Aviation travel Kilometer 0 29,168

Paper used Ream 257 331

Paper used intensity Ream per 2.65 3.04
(pro rata) employee

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption

We are committed to using all kinds of resources including water
efficiently and conservatively. Our group’s water consumption
mainly stems from daily office activities. Since our office uses
public tap water shared by the building and the water supply is
under the management of the building’s management office,
information of water consumption of individual unit of the
building is not available. Notwithstanding the situation, we always
promote water conservation and water efficiency in workplace.

KPI A2.3 energy use efficiency targets

The group has adopted the foregoing measures to enhance energy
use efficiency. We consider such measures had been achieved
during the year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
In order to minimise impacts on the environment and natural
resources, we are committed to applying and integrating green

energy into our solutions and professional services.

KPI A3.1 Minimising impacts on the environment and natural

resources

We continue to develop and deploy sustainable energy solutions
and services for our clients, rechargeable energy products and
systems had been launched and deployed for CMOM to reduce
the amount of alkaline battery chemical wastes produced. We
have been replacing alkaline battery cells by rechargeable lithium
battery packs. In March 2021, we recharged our lithium battery
packs, each of which has a capacity of approximately 118Wh,
for over 5,000 times. As at 31 March 2021, the accumulated
recharging times of the lithium battery packs exceeded 77,000

times.

During the year, we managed to apply and integrate green energy
into the Contract for Provision of People Counter System and
Related Services at Public Toilets, Aqua Privies and Bathhouses
in the Territory and our technological product solution “An
Integrated Solution for the Detection/Diagnosis/Surveillance of
Hygiene Conditions and Deep Cleansing of Public Toilets and
Facilities”.

Regarding the operation of the office premises, we are not
aware of any significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources. With the implementation of green office
measures, we strive to minimise impacts on the environment
and natural resources. The group will continue to implement
environment-friendly practices within the operation in order to
enhance sustainability.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY #t&7&iE

Aspect B1: Employment

In relation to human resources, we are committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and
race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance,
the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
occupational safety of our employees, so as to safeguard their
interests and well-being. We are very proud to receive the “Partner
Employer Award 5 years” by The Hong Kong General Chamber
of Small and Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award”
Recognition Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local
enterprises to hire and provide internships to local students and
graduates so that they can accumulate work experience and
develop a positive attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the

market.

We are committed to safeguarding the security and privacy of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, we
comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and Guidelines
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal
Data, with a view to protecting the privacy of our employees,
partners, customers and community.

We comply with various anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong
Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and equality,
all staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present, the

anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

o the Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o the Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o the Race Discrimination Ordinance

We supported by participating in the Selective Placement Division
of the Labour Department. The objective of scheme is to assist
people with disabilities in securing jobs in open employment that
best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and experience, with
the ultimate aim of integrating them into the community and
helping them to be financially independent.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIZ - g NERWE

We review the corporate policy of employment and labour AEBTEHRIEBERSIHER  UERERTE
regularly to ensure that we comply with the local labour BFAMES TAGI RRA - FR - REBDRE EA
legislations and regulations. During the year, we did not come BREREMHENERZEBEERERNITR °

to any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment’ related laws and regulations.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group PSR RUEEBI IR R - EEEE - FEAERIR
and geographical region @SS HES B

2021 2020 —EBE--F ZBIEH
Number of employees EE&EY
Permanent 84 90 ) 84 90
Part-time 3 4 FeOk 3 4
Intern 10 15 BE4 10 15
Workforce by gender HRIB DS E D
Female 11 10 egi 11 10
Male 86 99 EELis 86 99
Workforce by age REREDNEE D
20-29 31 29 20-29 31 29
30-39 10 15 30-39 10 15
40-49 14 15 40-49 14 15
50-59 29 30 50-59 29 30
60-69 12 19 60-69 12 19
70+ 1 1 70+ 1 1
By region Ry EE D
Hong Kong 97 107 B 97 107
Macao 0 2 JEFT 0 2
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impacts on us relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
the he Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

KPI B2.1 Work-related fatalities

2021 2020 2019
Number of work-related
fatalities 0 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities
(%) 0 0 0

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury

2021 2020 2019

Lost days due to work injury 300 243 62

KPI B2.3 Occupational health and safety measures

We develop and adopt health and safety policies, including
prohibition of smoking in workplace, abuse of alcohol and drugs,
identification and prevention of risks and hazards in working area,
and follow-up actions for accidents or personal injuries. Such
policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for our employees
to comply with. We also update the health and safety policies
from time to time to ensure that the policies are best fit to our
business.

First-aid kits and fire-fighting devices and equipment are provided
and easily identified in the premises for case of injuries and
emergencies.

Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. We appoint a
registered fire service contractor to carry out the annual works or
the provision of or improvement on fire service installations and
equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for water and carbon
dioxide, fire extinguishing devices, fire sand and fire blanket,
emergency lighting and exit sign have been installed and tested by
the fire service contractor annually. We conduct fire drills and use
of equipment every year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Amidst the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we stay committed to
our work. To enhance the safety of our staff, we take various
measures to minimise the risks of spreading COVID-19 in the
workplace as advised by the Centre for Health Protection of the
Government, including:

- All employees are required to wear mask at all times.

- All employees should keep appropriate social distance with
others.

- Staff are advised to stagger their meal time, avoid sitting
direct face-to-face with others when having meals and to
have meals at designated areas with effective partitions.

- We regularly clean and disinfect frequently touched
surfaces such as furniture and door handles.

- We regularly use our proprietary Internet-of-Things (“loT")-
enabled smart ultraviolet-C (“UVC") disinfection devices to
disinfect office.

- We offer a special allowance for employees to purchase
personal hygiene products and equipment and to give due
recognition to them for their committed services at this
critical juncture.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our businesses
continues to increase, competition poses the risk of employee
turnover. We address this risk by providing our employees with
training opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty
while cultivating their professional development.

Every new joiner will be provided with proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous trainings are
also committed by us in different ways including on-the-job
training, comprehensive training for specific skill development and
professional training for relevant employees. Each department
is also responsible for setting and developing their own training
programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development
of our staff. Job rotation opportunity is given to help advance
personal development and facilitate employee substitutions. Both
the management and employee work together to identify the
department and position suitable for a job rotation.
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impacts on us relating to the prevention of use of child
and forced labour. We do not accept any forms of forced labour
service. We also prohibit employing child labour at any working
place under any circumstances. We inspect applicant’s documents
and qualifications strictly during the recruitment process to ensure
that all relevant laws in respect thereof are complied with.

KPI B4.1 Employment practices to avoid child and forced labour

We inspect applicant’s documents and qualifications strictly during
the recruitment process to ensure that all relevant laws in respect
thereof are complied with.

We review the corporate policies relating to the prevention of
use of child and forced labour regularly to ensure that we comply
with the local labour legislations and regulations. During the
year, we did not come to any material non-compliance case that
constituted violation of relevant laws and regulations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Paying attention to the environmental and social risks of the
supply chain, we constantly monitor and review our procurement
and outsourcing policies and practices and remain cautious in
our selection of suppliers. We expect that our suppliers remain
consistent with high standards of business ethics and the laws. We
have no tolerance towards any violation of business ethics and the
laws.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

We implement and maintain a quality management system of
high standards. It is our core value that we never compromise on
safety or quality and dedicate ourselves to a zero harm-and-fault
mindset. We adopted the practices of 1SO 9001:2015 Quality
Assurance System which were first accredited in 2002. We
maintain the quality by complying with those standards and
demonstrate that we have the ability to consistently provide
services that meet our clients’ needs and fulfil applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements.

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KPI B6.1 Observing and protecting intellectual property rights

We acknowledge the importance of intellectual property rights
and protection, we set out our policies and principles towards the
creation, utilization and protection of software, patents, designs
and trademarks registration and the related renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a document
or notification is provided to partners and vendors before business
engagement. Internally, we enter into employment contracts with
our employees which contain provisions on intellectual property
rights and confidentiality. Employees sign written confirmation
to (i) confirm that all intellectual property rights created or made
during their employment shall be vested in the group; and (ii)
agree not to use or disclose confidential information without
authorization or approval.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

We comply with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on us relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

We establish a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. Strong
anti-corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall
governance framework of the group. We are committed to
mobilising resources to safeguard the assets and ultimate interests
of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
procurement processes and contractual requirements. We maintain
a list of preferred suppliers so as to ensure reliable and effective
delivery of the products and services we require.

KPI B7.1 Legal cases regarding corrupt practices

2021 2020 2019
Number of concluded legal 0 0 0
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against
the group or its employees
Outcomes of the cases N/A N/A N/A
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Public health

Colleagues continued to support social caring activities amid the
COVID-19 pandemic. To facilitate the safe and smooth resumption
of face-to-face classes of an international school, Rosebud Primary
School, on 26 April 2021 and to ensure teachers and students can
teach and learn in a safe and hygienic campus environment, our
colleagues provided UVC disinfection services for all nine rooms
of the school on 25 April 2021. Over 100 sets of our proprietary
loT-enabled smart UVC disinfection devices, including 101 sets
of HOMAC® loT-UVC 24W, 2 sets of HOMAC® loT-UVC 60W
and 1 set of HOMAC® loT-UVC 240W, were deployed to provide
thorough and efficient UV disinfection for the large indoor
establishments with a total area of around 10,000 square feet. We
are delighted to see teachers and students return to schools with
joy and passion.

We have been participating in ORBIS Pin Campaign since 2006.
Our colleagues wore the Pins on 8 October 2020 to embrace
ORBIS's mission in support of World Health Organization’s World
Sight Day. Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate
preventable blindness in impoverished nations worldwide.
Long-term eye care programs that increase local surgical skills,
facilities and eye health awareness have helped restore sight to
over 6.8 million needlessly blind people to date.

KPI B8.2 Education

During the year, we welcomed more than twenty interns joining
the group. They came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
The City University of Hong Kong, Royal Melbourne Institute
of Technology and Vocational Training Council with different
disciplines from computing, electronic, information, electrical and
mechanical engineering. We have been supporting internship
program for university undergraduates since 2006 assisting more
than 200 students to gain solid experience and knowledge in their
fields through taking actual work responsibilities.

The management of the group continues to support the
Engineering Departments of The City University of Hong Kong and
The University of Hong Kong by serving as industrial advisors.

We have been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations were also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. We are honored to be the Principal Members of the
City University of Hong Kong Foundation.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the group’s total

EREEBAERSL
Revenue Purchases
= REE
The largest customer BAEP 55% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hAREFPEE 93% -
The largest supplier BAHER - 1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ER BT - 40%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

B R AL SR A A A RS %
SRR - B L BES B E T
e -
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Dividend

On 16 June 2021, the directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HKO0.5 cents (2020: HK$Nil) per ordinary share of the company
in cash distributed from the share premium account of the company
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the company on 1 September
2021. As at 31 March 2021, the company’s share premium account
was approximately HK$20,240,000. Subsequent to the approval of the
company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and after the payment of the proposed final dividend, assuming there
are no other changes to the share premium account, the company’s
share premium account is expected to be reduced to approximately
HK$15,612,000. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the
year. The recommendation of final dividend has not been incorporated in
the financial statements for the year but will be recorded in the following

year.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the company subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The articles of association provide
that an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the company is
required for any distribution out of the share premium account.

Subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting on Friday, 6 August 2021, the final dividend will be paid on
Tuesday, 14 September 2021 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the company on Wednesday, 1 September 2021.
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Closure of Register of Members

0)

(i)

Entitlement to Attend and Vote at the 2021 Annual
General Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Wednesday, 4 August
2021 to Friday, 6 August 2021, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for attendance of annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 August
2021.

Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend

The register of members will be closed from Monday, 30 August
2021 to Wednesday, 1 September 2021, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 27 August
2021.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$Nil (2020: HK$8,500).
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Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Lee Pang Fei, Allen (passed away on 15 May 2020)

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

Mr. Wai Hing Cheung (appointed on 1 November 2020)

Mr. Yeung Kin Hing (appointed on 1 August 2020 and resigned on 4
August 2020)

In accordance with Article 108 and 112 of the company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, Mr. Liu Hoi Wah and Mr. Wai Hing
Cheung will retire from the board by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to date of
this report is as follows:

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. But Wui Fai (resigned on 31 March 2021)

Ms. Lau Yuet Ping (resigned on 31 March 2021)

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona (resigned on 31 March 2021)

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company
and the Exchange were as follows:
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(I)  Interests in issued shares of the company () AQEHRDER
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
SR0.01ETEBRRE
Percentage of
Personal Corporate Family Other total issued
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total shares
EERT
Esps EARER NRER RikER Hitigs G RABEDH
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 7,108,000(L) 241,102,348(L) - - 248,210,348(L) 26.82%
AEREE (Note 2) (Fffz£2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,988,000(L) - - - 113,988,000(L) 12.32%
BRI
Notes: PR -
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares. 1. L FRIABRDBEE ©
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited 2. ERMDB -—RNREBERESK A A A Rax-Comm

("Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share

capital of Rax-Comm.

(1)  Interests in equity derivatives (as defined in the (II)
SFO) in, or in respect of, underlying shares

As at 31 March 2021, the directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the company granted
at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the company. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.
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Number of
Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at 31 which options options during on exercise
Name of director March 2021  Date granted exercise the year of options
R=B=-F
=ZR=t-H R TEBERE
i RATHEM BREMRE RAXMN
EEpE BREHE RLAH BRETRE HRGOEE BRER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 900,000(L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
By ss 900,0001) ZE—RETZAKREA T+ AREZE - 0.1467%7T
—ZE-—F/\AtH
900,000(L) ~ 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000) =Z—N\FLA=H —Z-)\E\A=ZHZE - 0.075%7T
“ZC-E/\A+H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 900,000(L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BB 900,0001) Z=E-—AE+ZAXRA “Z—+tEARAR - 0.14657C
“2--F/\AtR
900,000(L) 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,0000) =—T—/\EtA=H —T-\FN\A=HZE - 0.075/87T
—Z-—F/\A+tH
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 900,000(L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
et 900,0000) ZZ—REFTZARA “Z+ERARRE - 0.146/8 7T
“TZCE/\A+H
900,000(L) ~ 3July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000) ZE-NF+HA=H —Z-\F/\A=RZE - 0.075%7
“Z2--F/\AtR
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Number of
Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at 31 which options options during on exercise
Name of director March 2021  Date granted exercise the year of options
RZBZ-%
=ZA=+-H FRTE TEBRE
i RATHEM BREM B RAXNN
Espg BREHE RHBEH BRETES HRGEE ERER
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 900,000(L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
ML 900,0000) Z—E-RFLANHA T 5-ANBZE - 0.154/87C
—Z-—F)\RtA
900,000(L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000) —E—RFT-AKH “T—tFRXARRE - 014678 7T
“EC—E/\A+H
900,000(L)  3July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,0000) =E—/\&tHA=H —Z-\F\A=RZ% - 0.075/87C
“E-F/\AtA
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 900,000(L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
BRREE 900,0000) Z—E-RFLANHA T 5-ANBZE - 0.154/87C
—Z-—F)\RtA
900,000(L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,0001) —Z—AEF=AKH Tt FRXARAE - 014678 7T
“EC-/\A+H
900,000(L)  3July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,0000) =E—/\&tHA=H —Z-\F\A=RZ% - 0.075/87T
“E-F/\AtA

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.
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(I  Aggregate interest in the
shares of the company
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shares and underlying (Ill) ZAATRMDREBRGHVETERS

Aggregate Aggregate Percentage

number in number in of Total

Name of director ordinary shares  underlying shares Total issued shares

EARDR S BT

EEpE LERA R R B &st RAEBNED L

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 248,210,348(L) 1,800,000(L) 250,010,348(L) 27.01%
2ES st

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 113,988,000(L) 1,800,000(L) 115,788,000(L) 12.51%
TP S A

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 1,800,000(L) 1,800,000(L) 0.19%
2HELE

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony - 2,700,000(L) 2,700,000(L) 0.29%
B

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew - 2,700,000(L) 2,700,000(L) 0.29%

BRERLE

Note:  The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares.

B L FRERGBEAR -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the directors, [ Filiff#BEN R-_E-_—F=A=+—H  EFFH 17
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests in the — BAEE S FSHHE A T EREZEHEME15.7%15.8
shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the company &R A TSk KM HE=E (E5 R BEENE+RE)
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the  BAERMH K EHEMERTAR (BIEREZEDIEOINZER
SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and the Exchange  ER R AN EI/EHEE IR AR) KN AH AIREEL
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests (&l F352ETFUFEBEHE2MA » HBREGEM LR A
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under — 255.46 % 5.68 {5 P & #0457 B 4 78 %1€ AR 1 &) K2 B <2 B 69 (F
such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section  {aJ#£zsakk A

352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which

were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules,

were required to be notified to the company and the Exchange.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any

such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2021, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any

director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%
A

BROA B (& RITRARNIRG - HERO REHAES
BEm MR R I FTIEESN - MER - KRR REEMHER
AR ESEEALY  EARBEERTRAHATEZE
ARRBREMEMEABBOBEN REHES (BEE
F)MEFNE  MARREERTRAEZEIWENELRE
AR AR+ N\ F LR BRI A RB AR R B S OE
B IREITE AR EEN -

ERHARHITRRARENES AR

St

WoF-—FZA=+—B - REEHEHEICHTAT
ir e B RMATH R AHEAAR R EFRITHARIA
FHAL (AAREERATRARBIN) RARAGRE R
TR A A R

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FFEER HEBITRSD
REMA BROEEE WES L
Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (Fff#E)
Mr. George Roger Manho 48,142,254 5.20%

FIEMELE

Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant

directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and

short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2021.
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Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased nil shares (2020: nil shares) in
the share capital of the company on the Exchange pursuant to the general
mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general meetings of
the company held on 7 August 2020.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangement
or contracts

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted during
or at the end of the year in which the director or an entity connected with
the director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 139 of this annual report.
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Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent

non-executive directors are independent.
Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.
There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 16 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ pakertilly
X B B3 PR

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “group”) set out on pages 62 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
BRERSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNNEERRETSE

Revenue recognition on service contracts fRIE & XK ETER

Refer to notes 2(u), 4 and 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements E2 M5 & BB HRERME2(u) « 4% 34(a)

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, radio frequency identification
("RFID") and IT services contracts are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate the
total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing each of the
contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group. It
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and requires
judgements in applying the input method for recognising revenue from
related service contracts.

BRERFA - SRR A R E AR R E R A DR ERE RN T TH
DEATHER ©

EREREMEAEERTEESNAAENERAAGHTEIAALT

MR REFEVBRRNEEM R AT EHE N LA DL AR
RAERM RS QRS - BEDASEEF —ERFRIRBRER

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
over the process that the management performed
in relation to the estimation of total costs and the
determination of the status of completion of the
service contracts;

Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets
and the determination of stage of completion as at
end of the reporting period;

Checking and testing, on a sampling basis, the
contract sum and budgeted costs to the signed
service contracts and approved budgets, and on a
sampling basis, checking to actual costs incurred,
progress billings to date and any provisions for any
foreseeable losses as at the end of the reporting
period; and

Evaluating and assessing management’s estimates
in their determination of, among other matters,
the percentage of completion of the service
contracts, actual costs incurred to date, estimated
costs to completion and provisions for loss making
contracts.
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Key audit matter
BEREKEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNTEERRETEER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets & 5 EWFIER & W& E R EFE

Refer to notes 2(i), 2(j), 2(1)(i), 17, 24(a) and 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements

ESESRAMBRERME2G) - 2() * 201)() * 17 - 24(a) A % 34(b)

As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables and contract assets were
significant to the group, amounted to an aggregate total of
HK$5,041,248, represented 15% of the total assets of the group.

Management performed the impairment assessment of trade
receivables as at 31 March 2021 which requires significant estimation
in determining the expected credit loss and this is based on information
including but not limited to, credit loss experience, aging of trade
receivables, past repayment history, subsequent settlement status and
financial capability of the customers.

Management also considered forward-looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

This area would be focused on because it requires a high level of
management judgement and the amounts involved are material.

RZZ=Z—F=A=+—H0 HAKEEENEFIRRFBRENEE
A 35,041,248 7T - (hAEBREE15% °

ERER T —F=A=+—BHEZREFBEETRENG - PE
ERMEEEESNEAMGT  AERETEHN (BRESRREFHNE
EEEES - HEHRRFERER - BEERRLE - EREERR KU
BES) ©

BEEENTEEITHEZERTPEERNEBGERENOEBER - MR
ERMEEREREE ﬁé EE

HREHDFEEREREAE NS REBEENXN @ FIASERFEIN

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

- Understanding the status of each of the receivables
that was past due through discussions with
management and project team;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the trade receivables aging analysis used by
management to estimate the appropriate provision
for loss allowance;

- Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by customers after
the year end date;

- Evaluating management'’s impairment assessment
and explanations on each of the significant trade
receivables that were past due as at 31 March
2021 with reference to supporting evidence
such as payment history of the customers,
correspondences with customers and search of the
customers’ public profiles; and

- Checking the contracts with customers with
relevant contract services schedules and
recalculated to assess if the contract assets and
revenue has been properly recognised over the
scheduled period.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’'s Report
Thereon

The directors of the company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to

continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16 June 2021

Tong Wai Hang

Practising Certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEmRkEMEE TSR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

Note 2021 —E=—F 2020 — 2T

i HKS$E 7T HK$/E 7T

Revenue &3 4 49,749,878 44,345,206
Cost of services rendered ERHARTE BB A (33,206,556) (31,548,825)
Cost of sales 2 EEWKAR (154,475) (88,729)
Gross profit EH 16,388,847 12,707,652
Other revenue and other H b U as B H A F as  (B518)

gains/(losses), net 5 3,029,915 1,091,834
Administrative expenses THEA (10,574,555) (11,917,737)
Finance costs B TS AR 6(a) (391,020) (858,465)
Profit before taxation BB A F 6 8,453,187 1,023,284
Income tax PS5t 7(a) - -
Profit for the year attributable to FRZAATHEHE AELET

owners of the company 8,453,187 1,023,284
Other comprehensive income HipZE KA
Item that may be reclassified to EiE A peEF P E B )R H

profit or loss, net of nil tax: (EREFE) -
Exchange differences on translation of BN EEH R E =58

foreign operation (369,466) =
Total comprehensive income for FRAQATHEEABERIR

the year attributable to EHEHBALE

owners of the company 8,083,721 1,023,284
Earnings per share sREF 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR K EsE (B(L) 0.91 0.11

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated I EERAEMK I F4RE M ISHER M — 25 °

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e BRI R

R-ZE-—F=A=¢—H (ABTIIE)

Note 2021 — B —-——&F 2020 —E-Z4F
B E HK$B T HK$ 7T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L/E RGeS 13 4,293,254 3,826,567
Interest in an associate A /NI by 14 = =
Goodwill EES 15 = =
4,293,254 3,826,567
Current assets REEE
Inventories T8 16 1,502,145 1,790,103
Trade and other receivables E 5 R E M EYRIE 17 7,342,457 10,466,461
Amount due from an associate JE Wi B A R SRIE 18 = 400,000
Income tax recoverable A YL [ FR 15 FR 19,028 48,465
Pledged bank deposits BHERRITFR 19 11,560,594 11,518,641
Cash and cash equivalents RekBFEEEY 19 9,205,743 4,592,770
29,629,967 28,816,440
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables E 5 R EMERNRIE 20 8,071,183 7,372,811
Lease liabilities HESE 21 2,053,575 1,483,455
Loans from related parties BiE A TfER 22 - 8,800,000
Provisions & 23 881,165 429,173
11,005,923 18,085,439
Net current assets REEEFE 18,624,044 10,731,001
Total assets less current liabilities #EERREBERS 22,917,298 14,557,568
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Lease liabilities HEARE 21 1,886,322 1,610,313
Net assets EEFE 21,030,976 12,947,255
Capital and reserves EXR @ 28
Share capital A&z 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves e 11,775,896 3,692,175
Total equity R 21,030,976 12,947,255

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 June

2021
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2% B0 2
Director Director E=E EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.

ITE (Holdings), Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 43

B 75 B B R AR ALK b SR & A TS #R R B0 — RB 4D

BEEEeN_Z_—FRATANAREREETE -

)

63

N



64

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)
Share Share Merger Exchange  Share option  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
e RiaE AHEE  MEENRE  BRERRE ZithiE fgn
HKSET HK$ET HK$ET HKS7ET HKSFET HKSA T HKSAT
Note (note 28(b))  (note 28(b)il))  (note 28(b)ii)  (note 28(b)(iv))
i3 (Frakosli)  (RiEasoi)  (HfRE2sl)  (osE28(o)n)
At 1 April 2019 “E-7EMA-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,584,300 (31,273,530) 11,923,971
Changes in equity for the year: FRNERLE :
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREFIR2ENALE
income for the year = = = - - 1,023,284 1,023,284
Lapse of share options KR 27(a) - - - - (194,000) 194,000 -
At 31 March 2020 and RZB-BE=A=1-AK
1 April 2020 “ECEEMA-H 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,390,300 (30,056,246) 12,947,255
Changes in equity for the year: FRNEREE :
Profit for the year Efai - - - - - 8,453,187 8,453,187
Other comprehensive expense — EREMZE L
for the year - - - (369,466) - - (369,466)
Total comprehensive income ERZERAES
for the year = - - (369,466) - 8,453,187 8,083,721
Lapse of share options RiEERE 27(a) - - - - (183,600) 183,600 -
At 31 March 2021 R-BZ-5£=fA=1-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 - 2,206,700 (21,419,459) 21,030,976
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — KiF AU EREM L FERE B IEIRKRN —#H

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SEHTRER

EoEC—F=A=1+—RIEFRE CABTIIE)

&

Note 2021 —F=—% —ETF
Pt HK$# T HK$ 7T
Operating activities REHK
Profit before taxation R Al g A 8,453,187 1,023,284
Adjustments for: TS IEIEL AR
— Fair value gain on financial assets — BRBERIRA T EREN
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEEND R BERE 5 - (28,812)
— Loss on disposal of financial assets — HEFEBIERRARE
at fair value through profit or loss EEMSREENER 5 - 6,154
— Interest income — FBUTA 5 (54,403) (74,237)
— Finance costs — BT AR 6(a) 391,020 858,465
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 2,761,935 3,205,212
— Loss on disposal of property, plant — HEWE - BE REER
and equipment E5a 6(c) 45,734 32,330
— Provisions — 5 6(c) 853,789 185,634
— Reversal of unused provisions — R B A s o 6(c) (401,797) (610,049)
— Write-off of inventories — FEMHE 6(c) = 3,147
Operating profit before changes in REEE S BB AR EF
working capital 12,049,465 4,601,128
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL Em) 287,958 (445,258)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and f’f%&ﬁﬁﬁgqﬂlm
other receivables VAC: i) 3,124,004 (174,517)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from /ﬂ I NCI O]
an associate wm ( iE’jJD) 400,000 (400,000)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H At e R IEIE N 578,960 3,239,327
Cash generated from operations EKELRS 16,440,387 6,820,680
Tax refunded, net RET R OCFE) 29,437 =
Net cash generated from REEBELERSFE
operating activities 16,469,824 6,820,680
ITE (H0|dl‘,: V;).Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 &3
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Eﬁi/)lbi%
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ—ZT—=—

F=A=+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

Note 2021 —B=—% 2020 —E=FTF
(i HKS$E 7T HK$/E 7T
Investing activities REEE
Payment for purchase of property, SBEYE  BE REE
plant and equipment (33,626) (110,707)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BRBHEEARBREN
through profit or loss TRIEERD - 107,722
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWZE - BKE REHERA
plant and equipment 21,000 -
Interest received B U5 54,403 74,237
Net cash generated from RETHELERSFE
investing activities 41,777 71,252
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BRFLE 25 (451,892) (759,790)
Capital element of lease rental paid ENHEERESNERTTE 25 (2,415,601) (3,140,452)
Interest element of lease rental paid ENHERESMFN B TE 25 (189,182) (194,458)
Repayment of loans to related parties BETHEEALTER 25 (8,800,000) (2,800,000)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged BRI TR
bank deposits (), (41,953) 21,562
Net cash used in financing activities METEFTARESFEE (11,898,628) (6,873,138)
Net increase in cash and ReRBESSEYFEEM
cash equivalents 4,612,973 18,794
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April REA—BNEESRESEEY 4,592,770 4,573,976
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March R=A=+—HHRER
REZEY 19 9,205,743 4,592,770

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated HHIM T AR SR A M SRR — 300 -

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of the company and its operating
subsidiaries is Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle
Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “group”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

—REH

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ANAR]]) AHSE S M
B —REREBRAF - Hak B A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands @ &K R &
HE@EMBARMNEZSE M RBBNESLE
478 AMAE 1BCKRDE o

RABHBRORESHAER AR AR ([HR
Frl) GEM kT »

BE_T-_—F=-A=+-"BLFENGSUBR
REERARAREMBAR (BARASER[RE
El) -

ARAA—EREZRRF - ERNBRARNEEE
TEENPTFES2

FESHBE
(a) EHREH

WERE M BRI DRIEMERN BT BN RELE
AlfRE - Lt AR BIEEE ST A S HEMAIPT
FEANERNEEMBHRELL  BBEHERR
2 BEAREGFRURETERTRHIHNEER
E o WEREMBERRNTEBZACGEME S £
MR ([GEM _ETTAR A1) E3E 3 32 88 T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

BAMBHRA

N

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@) Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the group for the current accounting period reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

68  ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT.2020/21 % %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 34.
(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(l)
(ii). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

2

ITE (Holdir

e B HRR IR

BE-TT—F=A=+—BFE CAVETIIE)

EREHEE ()

(b) N\ ,jﬁ%ﬁ%‘%mﬂfiﬁ,ﬁ\' mﬁ

AR R EFEN G REEREBRRETHR - HES
SHEFTE R ER R - AAETEEMTE
FHIRWRER - i E B R E R & AR kR
REIR - AIE BR 8 70 5 B ) K oK o HA ) e e

e

MisE34mml B2 E R A BB B MEERIELE
HET R AT E LSS MBRENEATZE -

() MEBAF

MEARTIAEEZEGINEE - REBE TG —&
B BR2TRERUEMEAR TR LR ZE

KA&L?HEIT HEAZEOREHE - TEBAEE
DREMNERERA T E#D (AREREMA

:Hﬁﬁ) °

B AR EREERZEHERRERS AL
FEHK  EEZEMNER AR - REREE
ROV RF - REmNAREEENERARZEER
wA - HERRSEAMBERRAZHEN - £ED
BERENERT SRR ZAELNREHRE
18 SRERERUE AR T AEHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ—ZT—=—

2
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the group’s share of the associate’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see
note 2(I)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the group's
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post tax items of the
investee's other comprehensive income is included in the group’s
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

020721 %%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see note 2(I)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(I)ii)).

e B HRR IR

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

EREHEE ()

EBIEA T EHE

(i) BEEAE  RRREED IR RS
HE SR B B I AN SR [ S B RS B MR T B
AR AAERE - Bl

(ii) REEBEZR  BREITOAZRINEERE
BN AARFHERNEZRE

(VELOHESE @ ZE2RSHNBEEARRARE
El&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ SLE

B IR AR RETREBRIR - BXEBA AT
EENBEENEEAKE S ERSERMERE
REHNBRBENREELEMLTFHAAEE
BB (RHTEE201)) -

RERLERSEE BN - AHBABEEEN
EASBEEMA L BB 05 H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value,
if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful

lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the

lease terms and 4 years

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other equipment 4 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

— Right-of-use assets (see note 2(g))  Over the lease terms

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual

value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement

or disposal.
(g) Leases

At inception of a contract, the group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(9) Leases (continued)
As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. When the group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(f)
and 2(I)(ii)).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

The group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.
(i) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see

note 2(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(1)(i)).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the group recognises revenue
(see note 2(u)) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(I)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(i)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

(k)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are
either investments classified as held for trading or designated as
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets

The group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on the following

items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, amount due
from an associate, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note 2()));

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rate where the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and
contract assets: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFBUR ()

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based
on the group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial assets, the group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed
at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the group considers
that a default event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the group in full, without recourse by the
group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). The
group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial

instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the group.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed
on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(v) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

- goodwill;
- investment in an associate; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

0)

(ii)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(1)

(i).
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(r)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(p)  Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(q) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(t)).

(r)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BAMBHRA

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables.
Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of
the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred

income.
(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s)  Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

(t)  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Revenue and other revenue

Income is classified by the group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the

group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the group’s revenue and other revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised progressively
over time using the cost-to-cost method, based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

The likelihood of the group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probably
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the service contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Revenue and other revenue (continued)

(ii) Income from certain contract services from smartcard

systems, maintenance and management services

Income from certain contract services from smartcard systems,
maintenance and management services is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of maintenance services
which have not been completed on or before the end of the
reporting period are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position as deferred maintenance income.

(iii) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised at a point in time the control of the goods
has transferred and when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products.

(iv) Government grant

Government grant is recognised when the group complies with
the conditions attaching to the relevant grant and the grant is
received or when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the financial asset (see note 2(l)

(i)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ—ZT—=—
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)  Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 27,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will

vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

(w) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

(x)  Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the group;
(ii) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

group or the group'’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ—ZT—=—

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(x)

(b)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

The entity and the group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of the group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
Changes in accounting policies

The group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these consolidated financial statements

for the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

- Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of
Material

- Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent

Concessions

The amendments listed above did not have significant impact on
the amount recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Other than the amendments to HKFRS 16, the group has not
applied any new standards and amendments to HKFRSs that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 35).
Impacts of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 16 are
discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions,
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020, provides lessees with exemption from assessing whether
COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification
and requires lessees that apply the exemption to account for
COVID-19-related rent concession as if they were not lease
modifications. In applying Amendments to HKFRS 16 for the first
time, the group has applied the practical expedient and elected
not to assess whether COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. During the year, all of the COVID-19-related rent
concessions amounted to HK$24,000 has been credited to profit
or loss (see note 5).

Revenue

Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount
of each significant category of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows:
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Provision of smartcard systems, RTEEREREST

RFID and IT services ST 4R R R B B R AR TS

— Service revenue — R 39,870,882 34,969,864
— Income from maintenance services — RERBUIA 9,335,637 9,140,379
— Sales of service related products — HE RSB E @ 543,359 234,963
49,749,878 44,345,206
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

5 Other revenue and other gains/(losses),

5 HttikskHEMwFERE (HER)

net
2021 =E=—#F 2020 —E—_FF
HKS$#E T HK$#7T
Other revenue Hitt s
Government grants (Note) BTN (Bt aE) 2,609,999 422,059
Management service income EERBWA 240,000 480,000
Compensation income fERA 62,332 86,800
Interest income FEWA 54,403 74,237
Rent concessions related 20193 AL A SR AR A
to COVID-19 (Note 13(b)) HAEER (HE13(b) 24,000 -
Sundry income HA A 39,181 6,080
3,029,915 1,069,176
Other gains/(losses), net HitF s/ (858)
Fair value gain on financial assets BRERREAAERENEREE
at fair value through profit or loss B AR ERE - 28,812
Loss on disposal of financial assets HE B BERRIE AN ERIEN
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEEESE = (6,154)
- 22,658
3,029,915 1,091,834

Note:

Government grants refer to the funding supports offered by the HKSAR
Government on the areas of recruitment and retention of staff, project
development supporting and replacement of vehicles for environmental
protection. There was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to these
grants.

MiE:
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BHE_T——

F=A=+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

6  BRBLATER

BHADERE R GEA)

2021 —EB=-—#F 2020 —E-=F
HKS$#E T HK$& 7T
(@) Finance costs: (@) BAFSAAS :
Interests on loans from related E A T ERAFLE 201,838 664,007
parties
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEAENIMBER 189,182 194,458
391,020 858,465
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRA(BIEEEME) :
remuneration) *:
Salaries, wages and other benefits %frﬁ - TEREMBEF 25,793,747 25,435,545
Retirement scheme contributions BRORETEI R 918,589 953,840
(note 26) (KftzE26)
26,712,336 26,389,385
(c) Other items: () EAbIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration 1% AN B 403,500 399,000
Cost of inventories sold FEHER A 5,701,764 6,291,617
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and — BEWE  BE &&E 232,774 307,989
equipment
— right-of-use assets — (EREAE 2,529,161 2,897,223
Development costs # T2 R AN 934,247 737,172
Exchange loss, net i 5B EFE 16,381 85,506
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE RREOER 45,734 32,330
plant and equipment
Provisions (note 23) 48 (BizE23) 853,789 185,634
Expense relating to short-term leases RHHEREEEEEEE 48,474 45,760
and leases of low-value assets S
Reversal of unused provisions RE) AR (FFaE23) (401,797) (610,049)
(note 23)
Write-off of inventories # FE M - 3,147
# Development costs included staff costs of HK$440,239 (2020: # MBERABIEL440,239B L (T T F :

##

HK$465,175), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories sold included write-off of inventories of HK$Nil i
(2020: HK$3,147), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(c).

020721 %%

465,1757%70) B TR « thERAINE M

6(b)

FEHERAREETET (=

BIURKE -

ﬁ)f i - LSS

?H

TEF - 3,14778

= i 8K B 72 B RE 6(c) B AL 3%



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

7 Income tax

ke

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

/\‘/T\

Frig®i

(a) The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on (a) NEBWERF w A - 1B$E%F2K‘§I
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which BB A T &t 5 B IR 1T IR B E
subsidiaries within the group are domiciled and operated.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, no provision for HE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HIEFE ' H
Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as companies within AR & B A 7] I 8 (7] B SR s A sk
the group incurred losses for tax purpose or has sufficient B EIB D& RIS (AT R R R -
tax losses brought forward to set off estimated assessable M EEBMENEE (—E_TF : &) -
profits (2020: HK$Nil).
No provision for income tax in Macao has been made as N B A E R ESR P A SR B % R 0 i
the group did not have any assessable profit for taxation HE— - —F=-A=+—BHItEETE
purpose in Macao during the year ended 31 March 2021 RIS (CE—TF &) o
(2020: HK$Nil).
(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit (b) HETE R R e %R M E AR R e
at applicable tax rate: T:
2021 === —F 2020 —ZT=TF
HKS$# T HK$HE T
Profit before taxation BRAE AR 8,453,187 1,023,284
Notional tax on profit before taxation, I}ﬁ)ﬁﬁiﬁéﬂ*ﬁﬁ%ms%
calculated at the applicable tax (ZE=ZF : 16.5%)
rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) EAREARRHIR 1,394,775 168,841
Tax effect of different tax rates B B8 1 R4S i3 5 6 3
on subsidiaries operating in other TR E ()
jurisdictions (Note) (14,661) (28,188)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRHRE RN BT E 150,552 245,552
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR AR T 72 (230,325) (52,276)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised A FFRHIBEIBOT K2 (1,451,087) (583,845)
Tax effect of temporary RIER AL Z RIS 2
differences not recognised 32,962 (35,675)
Tax effect of unused tax REERRAREBHIE
losses not recognised EENT G A 117,784 285,591
Income tax FriSHt = =
Note: Bzt -

The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are
16.5%).
subsidiaries which have not yet commenced business, the applicable tax rate of SN

incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2020:

Except for those (B T4 :16.5%) *

HIFF B M A0 E A

the subsidiary of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong is as follows:

- ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to progressive tax rates from -

3% to 12% (2020: 3% to 12%).

ARERENEEZMAOKNERQ A

BEABER16.5%
BRZENB AR ARG EE
AIEVERABIERMT

R ORP) AR ARMBER K B3% =

2% (ZZE=FF :3%ZE12%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE R ERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

7  Income tax (continued) 7  FEE (&)
(c) Deferred tax assets () EEBIEEE
At 31 March 2021, the group has not recognised deferred RZZFEZ—F=A=+—H ' AR A RMNERT &
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately FMERNEAREFN R TS E @ ANEERBAR
HK$24,472,000 (2020: HK$32,335,000) due to the uncertainty THE B M AR EROIELERIBEEL £24,472,0007%
of the related tax benefits being realised through future taxable JL(ZZ = : 32,335,000/87L) * AEAHEE
profits. The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. ERK A
(d) Deferred tax liabilities (d) EEHEBEE
At 31 March 2021, there were no significant unrecognised RZEBEZ—F=A=+—H ' WREERERRME
deferred tax liabilities (2020: HK$Nil). REERBEE(ZT_ZF : TFT) °
8 Directors’ remuneration 8 E=WMe
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BIEGEM LT R Bl R B R A0 5 383 5 B /Y
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is BEEMEFBEET
as follows:
2021 —EB-—F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Termination
fees in kind bonuses contributions benefits Total
¥e 2R RIREHE
E=Me BENFE HiETA % BREH A%
HKS$# T HKS$# T HKS$# T HKS$# T HKS$# T HKS$# T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent it 201,825 1,689,747 - 18,000 - 1,909,572
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRIt 201,825 470,786 - 18,000 - 690,611
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2BELE 66,825 - - - - 66,825
470,475 2,160,533 - 36,000 - 2,667,008
Independent non-executive BUFRTES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (note) FEREL (i) 19,800 - - - - 19,800
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RZM 4 66,825 - - - - 66,825
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BERERE 66,825 - - - - 66,825
Mr. Wai Hing Cheung EEELE
(appointed on 1 November 2020) (R=T=ZF
+—R—R%f) 28,325 - - - - 28,325
Mr. Yeung Kin Hing BRESE
(appointed on 1 August 2020 and (R=Z=ZF/\f—H
resigned on 4 August 2020) EERR-T-TF
NAEBEE) = = = = = =
181,775 - - - - 181,775
Total CH 652,250 2,160,533 - 36,000 - 2,848,783

100 ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT.2020/21 4%




For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=F=—

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ke

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

/\‘/T\

8 E=EM= (&)

RIBGEM ETRA R EER

AR DI 5 383 1R ER MY

Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is EEPeFBOT : (8)
as follows: (continued)
2020 —E-EH
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Termination
fees in kind bonuses contributions benefits Total
e 2Rk RIKGEHE
£ Bl BT s REER A CH
HK$# 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$ BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BENTE 241,500 1,662,960 - 18,000 14,993 1,937,453
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung el 3t 241,500 476,292 - 18,000 - 735,792
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah AgErE 61,500 - - - - 61,500
544,500 2,139,252 - 36,000 14,993 2,734,745
Independent non-executive BUETES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (note) FEREL (k) 147,600 - - - - 147,600
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony REREE 61,500 - - - - 61,500
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BERENAE 61,500 - - - - 61,500
270,600 - - - - 270,600
Total A&t 815,100 2,139,252 - 36,000 14,993 3,005,345
Note: Pt

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, an independent non-executive director of the company,

passed away on 15 May 2020.

ARBBIFATESFTERBELIER T _FFHA+

T HEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R MY AT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EEHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2020: RAMZEEHFATH B (ZT=FF : ML) A
two) individuals are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in BE  BENHSEFHNHES - HBR=( (=ZFT=
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other TE : =fU) Zar ATHMSAENT

three (2020: three) individuals are as follows:

2021 —B=—%F 2020 T _ZF

HK$E T HK$H 7T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMME 1,455,765 1,915,476
Discretionary bonuses BBIEAL 159,623 49,199
Retirement scheme contributions BARET B 54,000 54,000
1,669,388 2,018,675

The emoluments of the three (2020: three) individuals with the N (ZE=FF : =) BRaFATHMEN T T

highest emoluments are within the following band: 56 E :

2021 =B=—F 2020 —_Z_ZF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATEE ATEE
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 =T — 1,000,000 7T 3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ke

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

mm
HE_T-—

10 Dividends 10 BRE
2021 =Z2=—F 2020 ZZ=TF
HKS$#E T HK$ BT
Proposed final dividend — HK$0.5 cents ERAHRE — REERO0.55
(2020: HK$Nil) per ordinary share (ZZ=Z4 - ) 4,627,540 =

1"

The above proposed final dividend for the year amounting to
HK$4,627,540,

2021, which is to be paid out of the share premium account of

is recommended by the directors on 16 June

the company. Such dividend is subject to the approval by the

R-_FBE-_—FX A+ BZFC=HULEZ
HIRR B4 £4,627,5408 7T © L ER B ERIRD &
EHAPRIMN  c RFEEHRBREEFEARDFGE
THRFBEFKSESIE  EEUBRRLER

shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. These MAEBANRESZA -
financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.
Earnings per share 11 SRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BREXRBMDEARNRAEE AEWGEF
attributable to owners of the company of HK$8,453,187 (2020: 8,453,187 L (ZZT =4 : 1,023,284 L) &
HK$1,023,284) and the weighted average of 925,508,000 (2020: FAEBEITLBEARANE T 5% %925,508,000 /%
925,508,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated (ZZE -4 : 925,508,000/%) ' st&HT :
as follows:
2021 —F=—%F 2020 =ZE_FF
Issued ordinary shares and weighted average number & 2577 @A & & @ AR HNiE
of ordinary shares Tk 925,508,000 925,508,000
As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary HE T - —RZZ-_TF=A=+—HILFEWL
shares during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, basic EETAEE L RR  WERREBERTER -
and diluted earnings per share are the same.
ITE (Holdi," ;),Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 3k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZEZ—ZT—=—

F=A=+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

12 Segment reporting 12 SEHE
(@) Operating segment information (a) EBESWBER
The group conducts its business within one business segment, REENKERE—ASESE - DERERER
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the SRR R BB ARG A R AERRTS - FIE A&
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject B Em KRG EEEUME - Eks R EHR o W
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating It REENKERHIFE—LESE ©
activities are attributable to a single operating segment.
(b) Geographical information (b) &R
The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and AEFBEEEEBRRFILEER -
Macao.
The group’s revenue from external customers and information REBEREINE P U RIEREE 2 R % o # 40
about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed T~
below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HINEF s FRBEE
2021 —ZF=—F 2020 ZT=ZTF 2021 —T=-—F 2020 —T=Z=F
HKS$#E T HK$A T HK$#E T HK$# 7T
Hong Kong B 49,313,166 43,203,552 4,293,254 3,826,567
Macao JBFT 436,712 1,141,654 - -
49,749,878 44,345,206 4,293,254 3,826,567
(©)  Information about major customers (0 EHREERFEHN

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10%

or more of total revenue of the group, is set out below:

EREENBERREBI0%NEZZSMT ¢

2021 =B=—F 2020 —_T_FF

HKS$#E T HK$ABTT
Customer A HFEH 27,600,000 27,600,000
Customer B BEZ 13,154,329 7,853,016

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT,'2020/21




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRR IR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

13  Property, plant and equipment 13 Y% - BERRE
Properties Computer
leased for Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
own use improvements and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HEEEAN EER
nE  HENERE BRREE Hit% "E EH
HK$ AT HK$ AT HK$ AT HK$ AT HK$ AT HK$ATT
Cost: BA
At 1 April 2019 “Z-NFEA-A 3,032,189 873,806 292,688 849,771 3,395,915 8,444,369
Additions NE = - 1,900 34,031 288,645 324,576
Disposals HE (1,133,929) - (39,540) (102,704) (40,413) (1,316,586)
At 31 March 2020 and WIEZZRE=A=1-BkK
1 April 2020 “Z-TFNA-A 1,898,260 873,806 255,048 781,098 3,644,147 7,452,359
Additions NE 3,261,730 = 4,509 29,117 = 3,295,356
Disposals HE (1,898,260) (109,500) (2,095) (105,323) (113,536) (2,228,714)
At 31 March 2021 R=E=——%=A=+—H 3,261,730 764,306 257,462 704,892 3,530,611 8,519,001

Accumulated depreciation: RiHE

At 1 April 2019 “T-NENA-A - 528,137 273,102 675,507 219,296 1,696,042
Charge for the year FANE 2,194,435 190,125 7,829 95,080 717,743 3,205,212
Eliminated on disposals HERFE (1,125,135) - (39,540) (102,704) (8,083)  (1,275,462)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-TF=A=+-H

and 1 April 2020 R=Z-ZTHNA-A 1,069,300 718,262 241,391 667,383 928,956 3,625,792
Charge for the year FRTE 1,819,072 155,544 5,991 56,284 725,044 2,761,935
Eliminated on disposals k8 (1,898,260) (109,500) (2,095) (105,323) (46,802) (2,161,980)
At 31 March 2021 R=ZE-_—F=A=+—H 990,112 764,306 245,287 618,844 1,607,198 4,225,747
Net carrying amount: BEE:
At 31 March 2021 R=E-—F=A=+—H 2,271,618 - 12,175 86,048 1,923,413 4,293,254
At 31 March 2020 —E-ZF=-f=+-H 828,960 155,544 13,657 113,215 2,715,191 3,826,567
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Note:

(a)

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPOR

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class
of underlying asset is as follows:

BHE_T——

F=A=+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

13 W% - BENHRE (H)

(@) EREEE

RIEMEERRNESMEREEEREENT

2021 =F=—F 2020 —T =T
HK$#% 7T HK$ETT
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated FAE{EEAAWE + LUITERA
cost (note (b)) 5II7R (Ff=E(b)) 2,271,618 828,960
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost (note () ~ /TE * UITERATIR (M) 1,878,547 2,655,370
4,150,165 3,484,330
Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities and total cash outflow for HEABANIBOTREER S RAENFMA
leases are set out in notes 21 and 25. ﬁﬂﬁ’:\(‘/ﬁiﬂ K252 -
Properties leased for own use (b) THEEE R
The group has obtained the right to use properties through tenancy AEEEBBHERZESERAYERERN HE

agreement. The leases typically run for a period of 3 years with an
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, additions to right-of-use assets
were HK$3,261,730 (2020: Nil). This amount related to the capitalised
lease payments payable for properties under new lease agreements.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
concessions in the form of a discount on fixed payment, amounting

the group received rent

to HK$24,000, during the period of severe social distancing and travel
restriction measures due to COVID-19.

Motor vehicles for own use

The group leases motor vehicles under leases expiring from 2 to
5 years. At the end of the lease term the group has the option to
purchase the leased motor vehicles at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no addition (2020:
addition of HK$213,869) to right-of-use assets relating to motor
vehicles.

120/21 F

HER—RE=F T8
Eﬂ%?ﬂﬁ'ﬁ%%’]ﬁ’]

ERANHBREENE
o ZEMKIGTBIEEMK

ﬁﬂ*%*fiiﬂi+faim~%ﬁm&
FEEER3,261,7308 T (ZE_F4 :

T %ﬁ%ﬁ@fﬁ%%m&A%mﬁﬁé$m
mEx -

HE_T-_—F=A=+—HFHN ' BARN2019

F B 5 R 78 5 0 A SR AR U A+t 22 E A K 3R PR ) AP
B AEEESUEETHNeEIXNHESER
724,000/8 7T °

(c) BRAE

AEEEEIEHRE - RAMELF - REEH

BRE . AEBBEEUREABESEEABA
HETE - FEBROHTEEEFMXAEEL -

FER - HENNAEFEREEERAT
T 1 213,869/87T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong

e B HRR IR

dollars) BE-T = —F=H=+—BLFE UABTIIE)

14 Interest in an associate 14 = PNEIE £
2021 ==—F 2020 —ZE_=ZF
HK$#E T HK$& T
Unlisted investment, at cost IEETIRE (BAN) 2,639 2,639
Accumulated share of losses FE1E BEHE1E (2,639) (2,639)

Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2021 and 2020 RZFBZ-RZF-FF=A=1—H AKEN
are as follows: BELAREMET
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration equity attributable Principal
Name and operations to the group activities
=g FRIL R R i it B AEEGEZE DL FEXK
Indirect
I
2021 2020
=B —T-TF
Precision Instrument and ~ Hong Kong 25.13% 25.13%  Provision of custom-developed
Optics Limited BB high-end laser scanning microscopes

ISR AR AR

The associate is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market
is not available and is accounted for using the equity method in

the consolidated financial statements.

= AN FE LR P SR T 1R B R IR

S ARMDLEMISMEMNIELTEEER - KA
AR S B MARAER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14

Interest in an associate (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted

associate is as follows:

Precision Instrument and Optics Limited

HE-_T-—F=A=+—HIEFE CABTIIE)

14 B TER (E)

REEMIFELETHEN RN BRHEMT

IREBEARAF

2021 =E=—F 2020 —ZE_TF

HK$E T HKS$/BTT
Non-current assets ERBNEE 40,636 29,583
Current assets MENEE 816,646 49,337
Current liabilities mEEE 1,018,039 400,000
Net liabilities BEFE (160,757) (321,080)
Revenue g 2,150,000 2,150,000
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/ A (8 REMmEmEmEA
(expense) (%) s 174,024 (11,316)
Shared by the group: REEEFEAG

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/

B () REMEERA

(expense) (Note) (Zi) 78 (fieE) - =
Net assets BEFE - =
Note:  The group has not recognised a share of result of the associate for the et RREBEARESERETAET  BAKRERF

year as it has been limited to HK$Nil because the accumulated share

of losses is greater than the interest in this associate. The unrecognised

share of profits for the year and accumulated share of losses up to
and as at 31 March 2021 is approximately HK$43,732 and HK$5,632
respectively (2020: share of losses and accumulated losses of HK$2,844

and HK$49,364 respectively)

108  ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT.2020/21 %%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ke

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

/\‘/T\
HEZT-—

At 31 March 2021

R_ZE—_—F=A=+—H

15 Goodwill 15 BEE
HK$E T

Cost R
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 —E NENA-R —E-TE=A=+-HF

and 1 April 2020 —E-ZTFPPA—H 9,507,923
Eliminated on written-off WEEmBER (9,507,923)
At 31 March 2021 R_FE—_—F=A=+—H =
Accumulated amortisation RIE#H
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 —NFHA—RA  ZZTF=A=+—HK

and 1 April 2020 :;ﬁigiﬁlﬂfﬂ 3,169,307
Eliminated on written-off 58 T B BR (3,169,307)
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE—_—F=HA=+—H -
Accumulated impairment losses EBRERSE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 NZZE-HEMA—HF  —BE-TF=A=+—HBK

and 1 April 2020 —ETFMA—H 6,338,616
Eliminated on written-off J 58 T B (6,338,616)
At 31 March 2021 R—E—_—F=RA=+—H =
Carrying amount EREE

At 31 March 2020

R-ZE_ZF=A=+—H

Note:

written-off after deregistration of this subsidiary.

The goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary in prior years was

B -

FEEAME

A 9 BB TR B B 2 B 5 8 1
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

16 Inventories 16 #FE&
2021 —Z=—F 2020 Z=E=FF
HKS$# T HK$ 7T
Raw materials R 991,035 1,166,529
Work in progress e 301,974 364,736
Finished goods UK 209,136 258,838
1,502,145 1,790,103
. =h
17 Trade and other receivables 17 EBESZRHEHMEWRIEA
2021 —F=—F 2020 —ZT-_FTF
HKS$#E T HK$H 7T
Trade receivables B S REWGR 3,781,381 6,995,656
Contract assets (note 24(a)) BREE (FiFE24(a)) 1,259,867 1,064,762
Other receivables H b FE KGR IE 16,967 8,046
Deposits and prepayments e RBENER 2,284,242 2,397,997
7,342,457 10,466,461
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits KR A201,576,0658 L (ZZ =T 4F : 1,153,009/
of HK$1,576,065 (2020: HK$1,153,009) are expected to be ) ETHES I AEERNMEE S REME
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. WHRIBTEER —FAr eIk R AER -
(@) An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at (a) WREBEBZBRES  RNHEHPKRESZ
the end of the reporting period, based on the EWRIENRE AT ¢
invoice date, is as follows:
2021 —ZF=—F 2020 Z=E=ZF
HKS$# T HK$ 7T
Less than 1 month DR—1{E A 3,700,742 3,848,944
More than 1 month but less than 3 months BE—EAELKR=EA 80,639 2,949,349
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BA=EAEIR—F - 197,363
3,781,381 6,995,656
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2020: 30 EOREABERRARIOREASKR(ZF=F
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group's F 1 30REA5K) REIH - FEBANMEE29() A
credit policy are set out in note 29(a). MEEERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

17 Trade and other receivables (continued) 17

18

19

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables
that are neither individually nor collectively

B2 REAMEWRIE (F)

(b) RI|BEMKREZEWFHIRILIRAE I
ﬁﬁ%“ﬂ%@ﬂfﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁ‘@ 2 AT 40

considered to be impaired as at the end of T <
the reporting period is as follows:
2021 =B=—% 2020 —E=FF
HK$E T HK$ 7T
Current (not past due) ERIE) (W 3EEE) 3,685,192 3,312,467
Less than 1 month past due BEIOR—EA 15,550 3,059,085
More than 1 month but less than 3 months past due BEEE—EAEIN=EH 80,639 536,406
More than 3 months but less than 1 year past due aEEA=AABRIR—F - 87,698
Amounts past due BEIEHE 96,189 3,683,189
3,781,381 6,995,656
- D —
Amount due from an associate 18 EWEE QA RRE

Amount due from an associate was unsecured, interest-free and
had no fixed terms of repayment.

Cash and bank balances and time deposits 19

FEdHE = N RIRIRAR B EA - TEMNR WL AR

R K -
RERBITERUAREREFR

2021 —B=—F 2020 —ZT_FTF

HKS$#E T HK$A T

Cash and bank balances & RIRTTAERR 9,205,743 4,592,770
Time deposits TEHAFR 11,560,594 11,518,641
20,766,337 16,111,411
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BRI (11,560,594) (11,518,641)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEY 9,205,743 4,592,770

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2021, time deposits are made
for terms of one to three months (2020: one to three months).

Bank deposits of US$1,482,163 (equivalent to HK$11,560,594)
(2020: US$1,476,749 (equivalent to HK$11,518,641)) has been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the group (note 30)
during the year.

BR & HATF SR AR IR B E A R URER A S AN - SRITE A
B F R AR IR T B IRITE HAF 50 R i
HER-_ZEZ—F=A=T—HILFE EHEFX
FH—Z=@A(ZZ=ZF : —E=@A) 8T
REBHREHFRNESREME °

#%01,482,163% 7T (MM 11,560,594/ 7T) (=
TZTF :1,476,749F T (FBER11,518,6417%
7)) EEREREERTIRIT - ERERARAIZE
B A Al E TIRTTARE (MPRE30) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

20 Trade and other payables 20 BEZRHEHMENTIE
2021 —Z2=——F 2020 ZT=_FTF
HK$#& T HK$ BT
Trade payables B S IE 593,813 932,459
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B A R E M ERRRIE 4,853,615 4,285,028
Contract liabilities (note 24(b)) SHAE (FiF24(0) 2,623,755 2,155,324
8,071,183 7,372,811
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled AEEWE S REAMENREERR —FRAZHk
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on JEZ KBRS TERBUA °
demand.
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RERERR - REZ A EE Z RN RENRER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT
2021 =F=—F 2020 —ZT—_FTF
HKS$#E T HK$H 7T
Less than 1 month DR—1{E A 470,667 341,202
More than 1 month but less than 3 months BE—EAELKR=EA 26,189 485,943
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BA=EAEIR—F 96,957 105,314
593,813 932,459
21 Lease liabilities 21 HEE®E
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRIIFAEEREAHREEEENRTELE
the group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period: BB
2021 —E=—-% 2020 =2=%F
Present value of Present value of
the minimum Total minimum the minimum Total minimum
lease payments  lease payments lease payments lease payments
BEREARERE SEEECMRAE SERSNIERE SERENHER
HKS$# T HKS$# T HK$ % T HK$BTT
Within 1 year —ER 2,053,575 2,185,368 1,483,455 1,594,064
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREARER 1,697,477 1,749,035 657,072 721,140
After 2 years but within 5 years MEERBFA 188,845 190,735 953,241 984,750
1,886,322 1,939,770 1,610,313 1,705,890
3,939,897 4,125,138 3,093,768 3,299,954
Less: total future interest expenses W RRF SR eE (185,241) (206,186)
3,939,897 3,093,768

112 ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT.2020/21 %%

/ U N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRR IR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

22 Loans from related parties 22 BEALER
The analysis of the carrying amount of loans from related parties is FHEATERRESTNAT
as follows:

2021 =B=—F 2020 —Z_Z4F

HK$#E T HK$ AT
Loans from directors of the company RATESZHER - 4,800,000
Loans from directors of the company’s subsidiaries 722 &IH/E A RIEFHE K - 4,000,000
- 8,800,000
As at 31 March 2020, the loans from related parties bore interest RZE_TF=—A=+—H0 BEATERHAEE
at fixed rate of 5% per annum, were unsecured and were B AEFEKS%AEARBEEREE © B3
repayable on demand. The loans were fully repaid during the year. RERNZHEE -
23 Provisions 23 e
Defect
Employee liability
benefits period
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) Total
EEEF REHA
(MizE(a)) (i =E (b)) &5t
HK$37T HK$H7T HK$E 7T
At 1 April 2019 R=ZE—NFEOA—H 309,533 544,055 853,588
Additional provisions recognised rRSNEERHE (FdRE6(0)

(note 6(c)) 53,449 132,185 185,634
Reversal of unused provisions (note 6(c)) 7 &h A & R # (Mf3E6(c) (96,759) (513,290) (610,049)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZE=FF=A=1+—HK

T -TFA—H 266,223 162,950 429,173
Additional provisions recognised FHIMEEEHE (MiEE6(0)

(note 6(c)) 310,591 543,198 853,789
Reversal of unused provisions (note 6(c)) <) & &R (Fi7E6(c) (76,814) (324,983) (401,797)
At 31 March 2021 R-_ZE—_—F=A=+—H 500,000 381,165 881,165

Notes: P aE -

(@) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (@ BERMNBEEIEREEFERBERRBRES
compensation and long service leave claims made by employees. HRT IR o

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) RE BB HIEEEE TEEEERRSNG
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard TREERA BHRNREBREHENUBRZED
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted A HUSBAHEEBRE -

for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

24 Contract assets and contract liabilities

24

BHRNEERGHERE

(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE
Note 2021 =F=—%F 2020 —ZT=_F4F
=2 HK$#E T HK$ 7T
Contract assets which are included in BIER B 5 RE A EIGIE ] A8
“Trade and other receivables” (note 17)  AXIEFEWRIE (MizE17)
— Service contract works — REEHTIZ 1,226,192 1,013,537
— Retention money receivables — EUURE & (i) 33,675 51,225
1,259,867 1,064,762
Note: MieT -

Retention money receivables represents receivables for which the
group's entitlement to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory

completion of the retention period.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets

recognised are as follows:

ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPOR

Service contract works

The group’s service contract works include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the service contract period once stipulated
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-
up of significant contract assets. A deposit is typically payable up front
and this has resulted in a contract liability at early stages of the project.
And the group also typically agrees to 1 year retention period for 5%
to 10% (2020: 5% to 10%) of the contract value. This amount is
included in contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
group'’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the group’s

work satisfactorily passing inspection.

120/21 F

0] ERRB 2 TDAR BN TR TR KRB BERE
B IR B LRI YRR ©

HEHERANWEESEBREEN —MRAHEFLT

- REEHTRE

AEERBENTIRBIERSEE QAR ERLYE
DERNFONKRBE (—BERER) - tF
NHRBEEMEERERSGNEE - K& —RE
S WEEBBVHELEANARE - AEEN
EARELEREHMS%ZEI10% (ZZEZFF : 25% %
5%)MERNEBERE —FHNREH - AAKEE
TS AR FRIER RN R AN K B T2 5w @B
BATAEE B EBAAGHNEE EERE
HARERABIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

24 Contract assets and contract liabilities 24 S BERSNERE (&)

(continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) &HEE
2021 —ZF=—F 2020 —ZT=_FTF
HKS$ %t HK$&7T
Contract liabilities which are included in BRERE S REMEMNKIEIR
“Trade and other payables” (note 20) K& K&~ TEUGRIE (FiFE20)
— Service contract works — RIEEHTIE 1,897,685 1,428,287
— Deferred maintenance income — BIERE WA 726,070 727,037
2,623,755 2,155,324
Note: B 5E -
(i) Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract (i) HERRENBBESEBRYEN — BRI ME
liabilities recognised are as follows: I
- Service contract and maintenance works = BRI & # RIRE T2
When the group receives deposits before the service contract and REBERBEHRRES TATKREURSE - it
maintenance work commences this will give rise to contract liabilities BREENVHELESNEE  EEREBER
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the project M =BARe BRI - BB AREEERI R
exceeds the amount of the deposits. It is a common practice on each BEHRRENLIRED - WESHIAIERiZS -

of the group’s service and maintenance contracts to require a deposit

before work commences.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

24 Contract assets and contract liabilities 24

(continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

BHREERGHNERE (A)

(b) BHEE(E)

(if) Movements in contract liabilities (ii) AHAENES)
2021 —FB=—F 2020 ZT=TF
HK$ 7 7T HK$ 7T
At 1 April R A—B 2,155,324 705,289
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue ~ FE#ERF RS GEAFHELHEE)
during the year that was included in the contract liabilities at the = MZE £ A LI & &4
beginning of the year (2,144,363) (672,627)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising PRI e R 5F P Wi 1 2 AR Y
revenue during the year that incurred during the year FARGHEERD (1,799,475) (1,916,670)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billings in E& X TR RIAmELER
advance of contract works SREEEM 4,412,269 4,039,332
At 31 March R=A=+—8 2,623,755 2,155,324

As at 31 March 2021, the amount of billings in advance of performance and
instalments received to be recognised as income after more than one year was
HK$Nil (2020: HK$10,911).

(iii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts
with customers in existence at the reporting date

As at 31 March 2020, the aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations under the group’s existing contracts
was HK$23,000,000. This amount represented revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from contracts for products or services entered into by
the customers with the group. The group would recognise the expected revenue
in future when or as the service was performed or as the work was completed,

which was expected to occur over the next 12 months.

As at 31 March 2021, the group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts for products or services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that the group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the
contracts for products or services that had an original expected duration of one
year or less.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

/\‘/T\

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 25 BEFREFELENEBEYHER

financing activities

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

ATIIRFRAEE DB EE SR

BERSRIFRENE

SHENED -
- MEEBELNEER
PR EHRSREEERARNDAS HEBER
SEAREENEARSRERTOREEDNT

group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 2nE
financing activities:
Lease Loan from
liabilities related parties Total
(note 21) (note 22)
HESE HEEALEXN
(BfE21) (BiE22) &t
HK$ T HK$ 7T HK$#E 7T
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE—-hFNA—AH 6,029,145 11,600,000 17,629,145
Changes from financing cash flows: BEHEE&RNE :
Repayments B - (2,800,000) (2,800,000)
Interest paid EASFIE - (759,790) (759,790)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERNEERSHFISTE (194,458) - (194,458)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERENEA TR (3,140,452) - (3,140,452)
Total changes from financing cash flows RIERE LB RE (3,334,910) (3,559,790) (6,894,700)
Other changes: HAti g5
New leases (note 13) iag (ME13) 213,869 - 213,869
Decrease in lease liabilities from early FRREEFREENHERERD
termination of lease during the year (8,794) - (8,794)
Change in accrued interest ZENSE - 95,783 95,783
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FELZH (MizE6(a) 194,458 664,007 858,465
Total other changes Hh e 399,533 759,790 1,159,323
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 REZBZZEF=A=+—-HRK
—E-ZHFNWA—H 3,093,768 8,800,000 11,893,768
Changes from financing cash flows: B&EHEEHE :
Repayments B - (8,800,000) (8,800,000)
Interest paid EATFIE - (451,892) (451,892)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSHFEITE (189,182) - (189,182)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERHEEHSMNERTER (2,415,601) = (2,415,601)
Total changes from financing cash flows —Bt&IR &R E &A% (2,604,783) (9,251,892) (11,856,675)
Other changes: HAti @5
New leases (note 13) THE (fFFE13) 3,261,730 - 3,261,730
Change in accrued interest RIER S8 250,054 250,054
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) A8 (FiEE6(a)) 189,182 201,838 391,020
Total other changes Hith ez 3,450,912 451,892 3,902,804
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—%=HF=+—H - 3,939,897

3,939,897
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26

27

BAMBHRA

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan

vest immediately.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$918,589 (2020: HK$953,840).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Share option scheme (continued)

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

27

e B HRR IR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Share option scheme (continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 6 December 2016, the company further granted share options
to certain eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of
14,650,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the company, represented approximately 1.58% of all the
shares in issue as at the date of the grant.

On 3 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 13,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.40% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 4 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 5,900,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 0.64% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 BRESTE (E)
(@) The following table details the company’s (a) FRARBE-ZT——FFERLENE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme REFBEIRNOT !

during the year:

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
A RiEA{TEMERE

Exercise price At 1 April Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2020 the year the year 2021

Bl NZB-ZE R=B=-%

BARE ] =k f7fe fEf% MA—H ERE FREXH =A=t-A

HK$/ET

Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 2,700,000 - (900,000) 1,800,000
BUIHTES “E2-nEtANA 2 5-ANBE
—E_-F/\AtH

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000
ARAMBLARMES “E2-nEtANA 2 5-ANBE
—E_-F/\AtH

Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000
EfbfEE “E2-nEtANA 2 5-ANBE
—E_-F/\AtH

Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
Hi1E% ZE—FTZR5A 3t ARRZE
—E_-F/\AtH

Independent non-executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 - (900,000) 1,800,000
BUIHTES ZE—FTZR5A “Z-tE5ARRZE
—E_-F/\AtH

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,350,000 - - 3,350,000
ARAMBLARMES ZE—FTZR5A 3t ARRZE
—E_-F/\AtH

Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,300,000 - - 3,300,000
EfbfEE ZE—FTZR5A S Y il
“E_-F/\AtH
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 BRESTE (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s () FRARE-Z——FFHERENIE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme REFBEIRNOT @ (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AR REATRAERE

Exercise price At 1 April - Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2020 the year the year 2021

B W-Z-ZF WoB--%

AEHE ]z 1] B MA—H R Enx® =A=t-A

HK$ 7

Executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
#H7Es “%-\$tA=H “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtH

Independent non-executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - (900,000) 1,800,000
BHTES “%-\$tA=H “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtH

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 4,600,000 - - 4,600,000
AAANBARMES “%-\$tA=H “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtA

Other employees 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,550,000 - - 2,550,000
EioES “%-\$tA=H “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,200,000 - - 2,200,000
AAANBATMES ~%-\$tARA “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtA

Other employees 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000
EioES ~%-\$tARA “2-\E\A=RZ
“E-F/\AtA

Total &3 38,900,000

(2,700,000) 36,200,000

Weighted average exercise price (HKS)
MEFSTEER (B1) 0.12
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 BRESTE (E)
(@) The following table details the company’s (a) FRARBE-ZT——FFERLENE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IRFEFEIBIIRMT © (%)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
A RiEA{TEMERE

Exercise price At 1 April - Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year 2020

§RiE  RZF-0E RZFZFF

BERE RHAH f7{e8 B MA-H ERE FREN  =A=1-A

HK$ BT

Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
BUFHTES “Z-RELANA 3 5-ANBE
“Z2--£)\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000
ARENBARMES “Z-RELANA 3 5-ANBE
“Z2--£)\AtA

Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 7 August 2021 0.154 4,500,000 - (1,250,000 3,250,000
EfbfES “Z-RELANA 3 5-ANBE
“Z2--£)\AtA

Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
HiES 2 RETARE S A il
“Z2--£)\AtA

Independent non-executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
BUFHTES 2 RETARE S A il
“Z2--£)\AtA

Directors of subsidiaries of the company 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,350,000 - - 3,350,000
ARENBARMES 2 RETARE IS il
“Z2--£)\AtA

Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 7 August 2021 0.146 3,750,000 - (450,000) 3,300,000
AtiER “E-AEtZARE ZZ-t§5ARAR
“Z2--£)\AtA

Executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
HiES “Z-N\§tA=H 2 \f\A=RZE
“Z2--£)\AtA
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 BRESTE (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s () FRARE-Z——FFHERENIE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme REFBEIRNOT @ (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AR REATEAERE

Exercise price At 1 April - Granted during  Lapsed during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year 2020
BRTE  KZT-1E s
BARE FiAs 8 B MA-A R Emim =A=1-A
HK$ 27
Independent non-executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
BETES “2-)\ftA=R “Z2-/\#\A=RZE
“E--F/\AtH
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 4,600,000 - - 4,600,000
AARHBARMNES “2-)\ftA=R “Z2-/\#\A=RZE
“E--F/\AtH
Other employees 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 3,000,000 - (450,000) 2,550,000
EfhiER “2-)\ftA=R “Z2-/\#\A=RZE
“E--F/\AtH
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 2,200,000 - - 2,200,000
AARHBARMNES “2-\FtARA “2-/\#\A=RZ
“E--F/\AtH
Other employees 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 7 August 2021 0.075 3,300,000 - (900,000) 2,400,000
EfhiER “2-\FtARA “2-/\#\A=RZ
“E--F/\AtH
Total &3 41,950,000 - (3,050,000) 38900,000

Weighted average exercise price (HKS)
IETSTRER (B 0.12
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued)

(@) The following table details the company’s
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme
during the year: (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, total of 2,700,000
(2020: 3,050,000) share options, were lapsed due to that one
of independent non-executive directors passed away (2020:
resignation of relevant employee), and the total value of the
share options lapsed of HK$183,600 (2020: HK$194,000) was
transferred from share option reserve to accumulated losses
during the year. No share options were exercised by the eligible
participants during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(b)  Fair value of options and assumption
The fair value of services received in return for share options

granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options

e B HRR IR

BE-TT—F=A=+—BFE CAVETIIE)

27 BRERE (F)

(a) FARB-Z——FErERKHNE
REFBIRDOT © (&)

R-ZFE-_—F=A=+—H " 4#2,700,000(=%
ZZ4 : 3,050,000) FEARIEE A AR — (B IERNTT
ERFM(ZZ=F : EEER) AN MES
#£183,600 7T (ZZT=F4F : 194,000/ 7T ) K2
BREPRFANHEREREEZZEE - 52
ZE I RZZETE=A=1T—HILFE - BE&
IBE R BT ETREARAE -

(b) HBRENDERER

AEBMUREBREMESORBNARBLER
BN AR B E - BREBREOMGT AR ER
“EAEAAE - BREOSOBARER 2 —H

granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual BAZ2Y - HHRFETEN2EhE A ZHAER
life of the share options is used as an input into this model. B
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
model.
The inputs into the model were as follows: BABAZENT :
9 July 6 December 3 July 4 July
Date of grant X B E 2015 2016 2018 2018
—RE —EE —N\F — )\
+ANB +=A/xH +HA=H +AMA
Total number of share options AR 1B 2R 10,950,000 14,650,000 13,000,000 5,900,000
Fair value per option at grant date ~ EHEBSBRAAE HK$0.0947% 7L HK$0.087% 7 HK$0.03%r HK$0.0377T
Share price of the company at BHEBARAARE HK$0.1527% 7T HK$0.14687C HK$0.0757% T HK$0.075/8 7T
the date of grant
Exercise price per share BRATHEER HK$0.154% T HK$0.1467% 7T HK$0.075% T HK$0.075%8 7T
Expected volatility iﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁlm 91% 76% 70% 70%
Option life el E ER 6.08 yearsé  4.67 years®  3.1vyears®F 3.1 yearsF
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B E & Nil 4% Nil 4 Nil 4% Nl £
Risk-free interest rate 1 [\ g 1| 2 1.26% 1.18% 1.98% 1.94%
The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the B R IR AR IE AN A AR B 2o iE - SR

company'’s share price and it is assumed there is no material
change over the whole life of share options. Change in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

IS REEHIHIR S B EAE ) - FAESTEN T ER
RMERNR - AIREEAFE AR BEENME ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 EBRESE (&)

(b) Fair value of options and assumption (b) BREMAABERER(E)
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, no share options was granted, exercised B Ea AT RSN - RAFEE REFWEREAR A
or cancelled in accordance with the terms of the share option RE RS R R M A I 1762 DA SR BB E a1 B8 AR
scheme of the company during both the current and prior year. #E o
28 Capital and reserves 28 EXKf#E
(@) Share capital (a) B
Authorised and issued share capital ETE M B EBEITRA
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
BB EE BT r 2! PEIT
Authorised: EERRA -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BIREE0.01B T/ @AR  2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

Ordinary share, issued and fully paid: BT MR BRAL R

At 1 April and at 31 March REA—BAR=A=+—H 925,508,000 9,255,080 925,508,000 9,255,080
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TRRFAEABETRKBAEROKE - WHE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEEEE LIRER—FRERR - FTAEEER

at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with EAREBEFHEES ARSI
regard to the company'’s residual assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Capital and reserves (continued)
(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company's Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

(iv) Share option reserve

This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons,
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company,
recognised in accordance with the accounting policies in note 2(v)

(iii).

28

e B HRR IR

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

BEXK (&)

(b) RENMEERBR

i) B

A% ENB AR TN SRS A AERAL AN
SRMARE - ERTRIFALAEEERES R
SRR BE B - AIEE DR EBBIRR HBNE

51 - BADEE A AR AR 2K SR AR o B
128 (B IR A] PABHUR ALK 2

(ii) =i
AEEW A REEER  RE-TETTF+—H+

NERINER @ KRR R PASR IR AR AR BR T (B 4
BB ARG EARREE -

(iii) HNEEPE H

SN TE S R B AR R B LB N E TS M I TS SR 1

SVEIER Z R - ERRESNIE2() ST BRE
# o

(iv) PR

Ub 8 4 7D R AR AR B 5 2(v) (i) & 5T BUR FT IR VR T
ARAEMBARAERL2TE (BREMES -
EE  ERAREEBAL) OERERMGEFRITE
BRESE AR EARK
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28 Capital and reserves (continued)

() Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, none of the reserves of the company
is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 28(b)(i).

(d) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to

finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes loans from related parties, lease
liabilities and trade and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed
dividends, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity less
unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2020, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

28 EAXRRMHE (&)

(0 HrE#E

R-ZFB_—R_ZF_ZFTF=A=+—H ' K=
b)()Sh » AR Tﬂmﬂﬂﬂﬂn R VNEIL &
E%f%°

(d) EBEXREHE

AEENEAERAEERAUREREE NS
LIERL ) 0 AMEERES AR BRRIR T R K A E A
HEAALTRHENE - LERESRERRKFAR
HERBEAGEXRALZ2ERES -

AEBETHRERBRTEEAGBURFFESD
HERR  RERZERHEAEEASRN - RELK
BEER T EH M E RSB RO E S A -

AEBGNFAEHCHBEEAR LR RERERE
BARZEE - gtk AEEZAEE (BEBEAL
AR HEAENUKRE S R EMENFKIE) I FE
ARBREREREZRS RSB REEAR
THER - KRPBEBERBIEMERDR B ERIK
BB -

FR - ARBHRBEUNR_Z_TF » ZHEFELF
BERBBRRANLIIERS0% KT « BT #RFR
SR AEE A REFH BRI TRERAKE
BT RERATER EEFNERREN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. These risks are
limited by the group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.
The group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
trade receivables and contract assets. The group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks of good credit-rating for which the group

considers to have low credit risk.
Trade receivables and contract assets

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 46% (2020: 57%) and 96% (2020:
84%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are generally
due within 30 to 45 days from the date of billing. Negotiated on
a case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain customers
could be up to three months. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

29
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F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)
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HE_T-—

TREAREERAAE

AEEER - REBERTELERFE  E2RD
M MEREINERR - ELRRESAEENIT
ERBREERABMOT o

(a) EERMR

EERREHFIRERGOBZEMERAKEE
EFBEE - ARBEEERRIZHERANRTHE
K BHRBFERANEE - AEFHRAEE
BREERBRREMNA RIFEBFRORT - K
SERTREELNEERRER -

BIREKARANEE

AEERXEERRNEEXEXSEREMIERF
EEMETHEFIBERAENFEZE - HEERR
SEETFFEEAEERIEANERNE S RRE
B o RIMEHR  46% (ZT_FTF :57%) K
96% (ZZ=FTF : 84%) A HLE FEUGRIE K
BREBESHMEARAEENEATEFRAAES °
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17 o WEGEZ P BENMEAN KSR B ATe)
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N

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29

BAMBHRA

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the
group'’s different customer bases.

The directors of the company have considered the credit risk of
trade receivables and contract assets and note that there was no
actual loss nor significant past due experience over the past 5
years, including periods of unfavourable economic conditions. The
directors consider the aggregate risks arising from the possibility
of credit loss on trade receivables and contract assets are not
significant and no allowance for credit losses were made as at 31
March 2021 and 2020.

(b)  Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  #Z2=F=—%= A =+—HIL&E (BTsE)

29 Financial risk management and fair values 29 REMRSTERQAE (F)

(continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) E@REBMERM (E)

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end R|ERR - AEERBEASRABENRITER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted SMINIRAT

cash flows was as follows:

2021 —E=—F
Total Within ~ More than  More than
contractual 1year  1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than
amount cash outflows demand 2 years 5 years

R—FR SR—F SRME

BHRITE FEER BRER BRER

fREE BAERb H"E = H"E
HKS % 7T HKS 7% 7T HKS$ % 7T HKS$ % 7T HKS 7% 7T

Trade and other payables B REME ﬁxlﬁ

~ Trade payables — ENE 593,813 593,813 593,813 - -

- Accrued charges and — ERER ﬁﬂf AN
other payables 4,853,615 4,853,615 4,853,615 - -
Lease liabilities HEGE 3,939,897 4,125,138 2,185,368 1,749,035 190,735
9,387,325 9,572,566 7,632,796 1,749,035 190,735

2020 —ZE=ZF
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted or on less than less than
amount  cash outflows demand 2 years 5 years
A —FR ZR—F ZIRME
ARIARITE FEEK BRERX BRER
REE Bemt (b (b (b
HK$% 7T HK$ 57T HK$E 7T HK$ 7T HK$#7T
Trade and other payables B9 R EMERNTIE

— Trade payables — ERE SR 932,459 932,459 932,459 - -

— Accrued charges and — ERE A REMER R
other payables 4,285,028 4,285,028 4,285,028 - —
Loan from related parties BB ALTER 8,800,000 8,800,000 8,800,000 = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,093,768 3,299,954 1,594,064 721,140 984,750

17,111,255 17,317,441 15,611,551 721,140 984,750
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29

ire MR R MY AT

N

HE-_T-—F=A=+—HIEFE CABTIIE)

Financial risk management and fair values 29 <SEEKRETERAAME (E)
(continued)
() Interest rate risk () F=mEp
The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its loans payable AEENEEREMEFNENEMNERREESE
and lease liabilities, which are at fixed rate, expose the group to WARFIERER - AEBEWEFASHITET AR
fair value interest risk. The group does not use financial derivatives PR AR R R o
to hedge against the interest rate risk.
The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits. AEENEEMSEEHRBITER  AEENF
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market BUWAGKETISFIRES) - BEHAREEN B
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the AR E -
group'’s financial position.
A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest MEI1OOEEHMN SR AT E KIS HAREE K
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial RARAEREAFENVBERBANEREESAY
performance and equity for both current and prior year. Z.
(d)  Currency risk (d) E¥m=Ek
The group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as B AR EB D WA F 32 1 25 A B FE IR IE ~ FEfT R
most of income and expenses giving rise to receivables, payables HARRITERERAEEEEETRNERAEY -
and bank balances that are denominated in the functional HUAN 68 B0 SR AR AR (AT RSN BB o
currency of the entities within the group.
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) EWMIAMEE
2021 —F=—F 2020 —ZT=-_FTF
HKS$:8 7T HK$# 7T
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BRI SR E E 26,543,652 25,602,530
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BSH AR SR B A 9,387,325 17,111,255

(f) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at cost not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Banking facility

At 31 March 2021, the time deposits of US$1,482,163
(equivalent to HK$11,560,594) (2020: US$1,476,749 (equivalent
to HK$11,518,641)) (note 19) have been pledged as securities
for banking facilities granted to the group on the performance
guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the group.

Material related party transactions and
balances

(@) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group,
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in

note 8.

(b)  Other related party transactions

e B HRR IR

F=A=+—BuLFE CAVETIIE)

i

30 TRE

R=ZT=——F=A=+—H " 1,482,163% T (HZ
711,560,594 7C) (ZE T4 : 1,476,749 7T
(#H%M11,518,6417%7)) (MizE19) EBFS #ﬁ#ﬁ
TRIT  ERERAESEETHANESRE
ZIHETHK °

31 ERBEEALRS
(a) EREEASHSE
ARFIBREEAENSCEEINARAEEZSHE

KT ESHREE -

(b) HMEEATRS

The group entered into the following material related party FR - AKEFZATHERBEALRS ¢
transactions during the year:
2021 =B=—F 2020 —Z_Z4F
HKS$# T HK$7;§7—E
Management service income from an associate Bt N B R B R AR WA 240,000 480,000
Interest expenses on loans from related parties BAEA TE KA A S
— directors of the company —RARES 148,696 326,570
— directors of the company’s subsidiaries — ARAMBARIES 53,142 337,437
()  Details of balances with related parties are () BIEXSNESIEMNGESHTIER

disclosed in the consolidated statement of

financial position and in notes 18 and 22.

MERMIFE18 % 229 & o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F=—%=A=+—HILFE (LLETIIE)

32 Subsidiaries’ information 32 KMIBARESR
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, particulars of the group’s principal INTAAREER T —R_T_FTF=A=1+—
subsidiaries are as follows: BHeEZEME QRS :
Particulars
Place of Percentage of of issued
incorporation/ ownership and paid up  Principal
Name of company establishment interest capital activities
Frib R ERTREBZ
AR EHE EEf PR SL it B ADk BRANFE TEXK
Indirect
SiEE3
2021 2020

—EB--F —ZT-FTF

ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336  Provision of solutions and
BEZGARATR BE shares of services for smartcity and
HK$1 each smartcard

3,418,336[% A EWMMANERERIRMEAR
(FRXEET) RIT MRS

RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research
BB HK$1 each of smartcard system and
2% service related products
(BREE1T) SERAREERAGHH
Em
ITE Engineering Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of  Provision of solutions and
BB HK$1 each services for energy and

2/% sustainability
(BRmE1T) BEERMASEERRY

EIS
ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas  Provision of solutions and
BiEzg CRPY) BRATA JERFT ("MOP") 25,000 services for smartcity and

25,0008 Fg#& smartcard
AR B A R AR

R =R
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in ERINREERETEFEASEARFEYHRR
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial WANEBFEETEARBRNHBAR - 2=
performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the AU E M B A TNEB e EHEIEBRTT

net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, 5o
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #&=ZF=—F=A=+—HBILFE (LAETIE)
Financial information of the company 33 AARMNEMBEEHR
(@) Statement of financial position (a) BIBMRRF
2021 —F=—F 2020 —ZE_FF
HKS$#E T HK$&7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR AIRE 4,442,140 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments e RENER 215,901 211,092
Cash and cash equivalents R RIREEED 763,468 311,556
979,369 522,648
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE R R H b FET K18 395,653 383,002
Net current assets REEEFE 583,716 139,646
Net assets EERE 5,025,856 4,139,646
Capital and reserves BEXRHE
Share capital R& 7 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 33(b)) & (M EE33(0)) (4,229,224) (5,115,434)
Total equity BREE 5,025,856 4,139,646
(b)  Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FAXRDBBENERNASHREN
components of reserves during the year: K
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RPHE BRERE RitEE At
HKS$A T HK$ 7T HK$ T HKS$& 7T
At 1 April 2019 —hWFmMA—H 20,239,745 2,584,300 (27,957,554) (5,133,509)
Profit and total comprehensive R ) &2 2 EHA 4858
income for the year - - 18,075 18,075
Lapse of share options RIREBAHE
(note 27(a)) (FF5E27(a)) - (194,000) 194,000 -
At 31 March 2020 and RZZEZZF=A=+—HK
1 April 2020 —E-TFMA—H 20,239,745 2,390,300 (27,745,479) (5,115,434)
Profit and total comprehensive — F R F & 2 E R ALEE
income for the year - - 886,210 886,210
Lapse of share options KRB AR
(note 27(a)) (HF5E27(a)) = (183,600) 183,600 -
At 31 March 2021 R-T=—%#=A=1—H 20,239,745 2,206,700 (26,675,669) (4,229,224)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34

ire MR R MY AT

Accounting estimates and judgements

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

(@) Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 2(u), revenue from service contracts
are recognised over time. The revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the group’s recent experience and the nature of the service
activities undertaken by the group, the group has made estimates
of the point at which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably
measured. Until this point is reached the related contract assets
disclosed in note 24(a) do not include profit which the group
might eventually realise from the work done to date. In addition,
actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher
or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(b)  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets

The group uses a provision of matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
management'’s estimate of the lifetime expected credit losses
to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of

management judgement.
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F=A=+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

b ET & R

ERAAEENGH IR (FARME2)  ERE
B TIIMES R BATESRAERAR
BREI{AE {EH A B 502 -

(a) W@ERRANER

AR B R 2(u) FT AR TR - AR TS A 40 M 25 B8 B R

Erg

HERARKR TIHE Ml laFKSE bt A D48

HBRENMECSERTIIRE - REASESIILRK
Zli’ilﬁﬁ%fb#ﬂﬁii‘&/ﬁibﬁ’llﬁg AEBEBELER
ARIRERBEMNERMGE - Bt SONBERES
BEtE - BRERIMRR AL - MEE24(a) TR EE R
HEAGHNEEY TNEEAREIIREEESERT
I%E'“fﬁﬂﬁxmﬂ BEAN - ARk A Sk U 2R 7 T A B
BREVSRJERRERROGEEAE  LEEF
ZHERFERRRECSLHRSEN A BN ER Mg
) o

(b) EZEW
EEREE

HREHNEENTAHIE

AEBEREEIEIIRGFEEZREFARANE
ENEREEER - B RAGREUBRIEN

PREBAAR B R BEE - BEEMETDER
HELANZHENCEEBENEREGRE L&
EFEEBRRR AHEZRKFEREK FPE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—F=—

Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(b)  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets (continued)

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and involves the forecast of general economic conditions. The
information about the ECLs and the group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in notes 17 and 24(a) respectively. If
the financial condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be
higher than estimated.

(c) Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

34

e B HRR IR

= A=+ ENEER (UBTTHIE)
ST h e R A R ()

(b) EZRWHERSNEENTEME
EBRREE (&)

BEHEEBRERBEYSEERERY RIRAKELE
REEEHHK - FRREHNEEERNENMAEE
B5RUGIRRAKEED BN 17 R24(a)
B o NP BB BUIROR S TR R B AR T R AL
AEREERESR NG -

() IEIEHIR

Bt AR EEBEEANEEHBEESHETELB
HRIERARREFRNERFMARTEREREB

RRBAFABIAN DA EE S HBIZ o MELNE
BARR RN SRS ER TR - AR a8 E L RER IR

BEMREEE - xR sk s A n R
EREER - WREEERRAEANHEBEED
ARARRENA - AMERIRER © fAaT KBS AR ] &
PR EZRTEHIREEN AR E L -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35

BAMBHRA

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2021

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2021 and which, except for the amendments to HKFRS
16 the group has early adopted as stated in note 3, the others
have not been adopted in the consolidated financial statements.
These include the followings which may be relevant to the group:

BHE-T=

—F=A=+—HILFE CANETIIE)

35 BE-_T_-—F=A=t+—HL
FEEEMBRERNIEET - F
EARZREBNEERE

BENSHGAMBHRRTIEZR BESHAE
EMMZIRER] - LN RRE  EREE_FT—
—F=A=+T-BLEFEDREN  RHE3EE
FBREERNFE16RIEFTRFRAIN - EAbe AR
RER A MIERRRD - U T RAREEAEEFHADN
3

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 3
"Reference to the Conceptual Framework”
Amendments to HKAS 16
“Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use”
Amendments to HKAS 37
“Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract”
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
“Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture”

Amendments to HKAS 1
“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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Five Year Summary

LFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (JABT5I1{E)
2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 201718 2016/17
“BCEEC-F “T-NEZTHF T ENEF ZE+tE-N\F T EtF
HKS$# T HK$B T HK$ETT HK$E T HK$ 77T
Results £
Revenue Wiz 49,749,878 44,345,206 24,791,363 25,435,931 22,348,653
Profit/(loss) from operations B2EH /(1) 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715 382,539
Profit/(loss) before taxation BHAER / (518) 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715 382,539
Income tax credit FEHiEE - - - 19,139 -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable o~ AR F#EE AFREEER
owners of the company ikl (BE) 8,453,187 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,321,854 382,539
Assets and liabilities EEREHE
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,293,254 3,826,567 3,716,138 199,680 488,312
Net current assets MEEETE 18,624,044 10,731,001 10,455,263 14,612,976 12,654,748
Non-current liabilities EREEE (1,886,322) (1,610,313) (2,247,430) - -
Net assets BEFE 21,030,976 12,947,255 11,923,971 14,812,656 13,143,060
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF /(B#8)
Basic (HK cents) EA () 0.91 0.1 (0.37) 0.14 0.04
Diluted (HK cents) 258 (5(0) 0.91 0.11 (0.37) 0.14 0.04
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